

2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

CITY OF DETROIT
BOARD OF POLICE COMMISSIONERS
VIRTUAL MEETING
February 22, 2024 at 3:00 P.M.

1

2 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Afternoon. It is now 3:00 PM,
3 and so we will begin this session of the Detroit Board of
4 Police Commissioners meeting. We can clearly see that we
5 don't yet have a quorum but that does not prevent us from
6 beginning our meeting with a word of invocation which
7 will be given by Chaplain Angela Stallworth, and she's
8 providing us this invocation by zoom.

9 CHAPLAIN STALLWORTH: Amen. God bless you.
10 Commissioner Pressley, I believe. Amen.

11 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Amen.

12 CHAPLAIN STALLWORTH: Yes. I'm first giving honor to
13 God, who is the head of my life, my Lord, and my Savior,
14 Jesus Christ, giving honor to those that are not yet
15 here, but to our Detroit Police Chief White and Chief
16 Chaplain Davenport, and also to the Board of Police
17 Commissioners, in their absence, and until they get
18 there, we're believing God for each one to have speedy
19 travels and safe travels. Father God, in the name of
20 Jesus, we have come before you, Lord, and we are
21 submitting petitions before you, oh God, that we would
22 affect your will in all that we do. Father, we're asking
23 that you'll see the sincerity of our desire, that
24 everything for our city, the furtherance of these
25 petitions would be in order and would be a blessing for

1 the people of the city, and also for the officers that
2 are concerned, and also for those that are laboring in
3 the city. Father, we're asking that everything be decent
4 and in order, even those that would like to conduct
5 business in this city. Father, we're asking that you
6 would oversee everything that this Board has presented
7 before it today. Father, we're just thanking you and
8 believing that everything is in alignment with your will,
9 and it is so, in Jesus' name, amen.

10 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Amen. Thank you so very much.

11 CHAPLAIN STALWORTH: You're welcome. Noting that we
12 don't yet have a quorum, we will move to items of the
13 agenda that we are able to do without one. I'm hearing
14 kind of an echo, I don't know what that's about. If
15 anybody can handle that for us, please. Thank you. And so
16 we'll move to announcements from Mr. Brown.

17 MR. BROWN: Good afternoon, Mr. Chair.

18 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Good afternoon.

19 MR. BROWN: The next BOPC meeting would be Thursday,
20 February the 29th at 3:00 PM. The location will be here
21 at Detroit Public Safety Headquarters in the Skylar
22 Herbert Room. The next community meeting would be
23 Thursday, March 14th at 6:30 PM with the 10th Precinct
24 hosting at Dexter Avenue Baptist Community Center. That
25 address is 3350 West Davidson 42238. And, Mr. Chair, the

1 monthly committee meetings for February, 2024 Citizen
2 Complaint Committee meeting meets Tuesday, February, 27th
3 at 5:00 PM Policy Committee meet Tuesday, March 5th at
4 5:00 PM and all those will take place at Detour Public
5 Safety Headquarters, and you can also view them on zoom,
6 announcement.

7 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Thank you. And we can go ahead
8 and receive your report as well as incoming
9 communications.

10 MR. BROWN: And Mr. Chair, there's only two
11 communications on there. You got a letter from Sudnick
12 Law, which was in the Board's Office on 2/19/2024, then
13 you have a public enquiry that came in on 2/15/2024. And
14 both of those items are located in your package.

15 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Thank you. To our engineer, it
16 sounds as if it's coming from this TV here. I don't know
17 if the volume can be turned down on it to stop the echo?

18 COMMISSIONER BURTON: To the Chair.

19 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Thank you. Yes.

20 Is it possible that the Secretary can read the
21 letter from the attorney into the record since it is a
22 legal...

23 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: I'm sure it's a confidential
24 document, so we will avoid doing so. With that we will
25 now move to oral communications. And so for those who are

1 here on Zoom we will receive your public comment now. But
2 again noting how early it is there will be another
3 segment for public comment for those who might not have
4 had the opportunity to make it to the meeting this early
5 on. And so Ms. Underwood, who do we have?

6 MS. UNDERWOOD: Sir, we have Minister Eric Blount and
7 Ms. Freda Butler

8 MINISTER BLOUNT: Afternoon Board.

9 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Good afternoon.

10 MINISTER BLOUNT: Afternoon. I'm mad as hell this
11 week. The number of citizen complaints is almost
12 doubling. It's quickly rising to almost 2000 complaints
13 every year. But the most horrible thing about it is that
14 they are, but a symptom of the lawsuits and the false
15 imprisonments and the rape that happens in prison.
16 Friday, a Wayne County jury awarded a young black man \$10
17 million because he was falsely arrested. He was falsely
18 imprisoned for 6 years because of a Detroit police
19 officer, and their leadership decided not to reveal
20 critical information that could have proven his
21 innocence. I am sorry, this is no time for jokes and
22 games and whatever, but you can't seem to avoid it. Your
23 puppeteers have told you what to do, and you do it. When
24 you have the opportunity to talk to DPD Senior
25 Management, you play a game that is just sick. So you

1 want to talk about illegal dumping. Commissioner
2 Hernandez. You want to talk about missing persons,
3 Commissioner Woods. You want to talk about or offer your
4 personal services to all of those you just promoted,
5 Commissioner Bernard. But that is not the time for this.
6 This is critical. Young black men are suffering in a most
7 horrible way because you refuse to do your jobs. I said
8 it before, and I'll say it again. I choose to believe
9 that the vast majority of police officers are
10 hardworking, honest people. It is how we do not deal with
11 the corrupt ones that makes this whole situation
12 dangerous. Thank you.

13 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Thank you. We do note that our
14 quorum is present, and so we will suspend a public
15 comment and get to our regular agenda. And with that, we
16 will have an introduction of Commissioners by Mr. Brown.

17 MR. BROWN: Good afternoon, Mr. Chair.

18 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Good afternoon.

19 MR. BROWN: Chairperson Pressley - Here.

20 MR. BROWN: Vice Chairperson, Bell - Present.

21 MR. BROWN: Commissioner Smith - Present.

22 MR. BROWN: Commissioner Bernard - Attorney Linda
23 Bernard, District 2, present.

24 MR. BROWN: Commissioner Banks - Present.

25 MR. BROWN: Commissioner Burton - Commissioner Willie

1 Burton is present on the behalf of the majority
2 Detroiters that wake up every day in poverty.

3 MR. BROWN: Commissioner Carter -

4 MR. BROWN: Commissioner Moore -

5 MR. BROWN: Commissioner Hernandez submitted an
6 excuse absent, Commissioner Gamble submitted an excuse
7 absent.

8 MR. BROWN: Commissioner Woods - Present.

9 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Alright, with that, we do
10 indeed have a quorum. And so now we'll move to the
11 approval of the February 22nd, 2024 agenda. Is there any
12 objection to the agenda? Hearing none, the agenda will be
13 approved. Now we'll move on to the approval of the
14 minutes for February 15th. Commissioner Burton.

15 COMMISSIONER BURTON: I wanted to move a line item
16 around.

17 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Okay. That is your right.

18 COMMISSIONER BURTON: I'd like to move public
19 comments for those that have not made public comments,
20 but I like to move public comments to after the
21 department's presentation for today.

22 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Okay. And so the
23 recommendation to amend the agenda to move public comment
24 after the presentation to the Board. Is there a second?
25 Okay. Hearing no second. Again, is there any objection to

1 the agenda as has been constructed? Hearing none, again,
2 the agenda is approved as written. Next we'll move on to
3 the approval of the minutes for February 15th, 2024. Is
4 there any objection to these minutes? Hearing no
5 objection, those minutes are approved. Now we'll move on
6 to the approval of the closed session minutes from
7 February 15th, 2024. Is there any objection to those
8 minutes? Hearing none, the minutes are also approved. And
9 now we will hear the introduction of BOPC Staff, Chief of
10 Police, Elected Officials and Representatives, as well as
11 Community Leaders by Mr. Brown.

12 MR. BROWN: Good afternoon, Mr. Chair. Attorney
13 Stephanie LaBelle, Chief Investigator Jerome Warfield.
14 Ms. Teresa Blossom, Ms. Jonya Underwood. Ms. Jasmine
15 Taylor. Ms. Candace Hayes, Acting Supervisor Investigator
16 Elgin Murphy, American Sign Language. Ms. Angela Taylor.
17 And Ms. Yakata. DPD HR Director Katrina Patillo. Mr. Don
18 Handyside is the court reporter, Cy is doing the video,
19 Sergeant Allen Quinn is doing the audio. Sitting in for
20 the Chief is Assistant Chief Charles Fitzgerald, Elected
21 Official. Ms. Marie overall from Representative Tyrone
22 Carter's Office. Ms. LaDon Davis, City Council Fred
23 Durhal's Office, former Commissioner William Davis. Mr.
24 Ron Thomas, DPO Vice President, and I know DPO attorneys
25 are in attendance as well.

1 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Right. Thank you. We, again,
2 are appreciative of everyone's attendance. And our hope
3 is that it adds to the productivity of today's meeting.
4 And now we move on to the Board of Police Commissioner's
5 Officer's Report where we have a resolution honoring
6 Lieutenant Rodney Cox. And I would ask that Vice Chair
7 Bell read that resolution into the record.

8 VICE CHAIR BELL: One second. Thank you, Mr. Chair.
9 Resolution honoring Lieutenant Rodney Cox.

10 WHEREAS Rodney Cox was appointed to Detroit Police
11 Department on February 22nd, 1993. On graduating from
12 Detroit Metropolitan Police Academy, Officer Cox began
13 his career at the 13th Precinct Operation Section; and.

14 WHEREAS Officer Cox had multi-assignments. From
15 July, 1994 until 1998, Officer Cox served within the
16 Housing Support Division, patrolling and ensuring the
17 safety of public housing residents. He was later assigned
18 to Western Precinct Support, commonly known as Rico West,
19 providing the policing support for the west side of the
20 city. He also was assigned to the TSS, Tactical Service
21 Section, where he aided in citywide patrol and tactical
22 response such as barricaded gunman, situation, crowd
23 control, and dignitary escort; and

24 WHEREAS Officer Cox was promoted to the rank of
25 investigator and was assigned to the Break and Entering

1 Task Force, and later to the 11th Precinct Investigator
2 Operations Unit. Investigator Cox was tasked to conduct
3 various investigations ranging from assault, theft,
4 fraud, and weapon possession. In the effort to mitigate,
5 Investigator Cox rose to the ranks. And on May 4th, 2001,
6 he was promoted to the rank of Sergeant and was
7 reassigned to the TSS. His role now encompassed the
8 supervisor, members tasked with Citywide Tackle response
9 and facial support. He was assigned as a first line
10 supervisor at Central District. His other assignment
11 include the Office of Chief of Police and the Office of
12 the Chief Investigator, and

13 WHEREAS Sergeant Cox was promoted to the rank of
14 lieutenant and was signed as the Office in Charge of the
15 Southwest District investigation, which comprises the
16 2nd, 4th, and 10th Precincts, Lieutenant Cox was
17 responsible for management and oversight of staff or
18 sergeant investigators. On October 7th, 2013, Lieutenant
19 Cox was appointed to the rank of Captain, where he
20 provided administration oversight of several different
21 commands. Captain Cox served as the commanding officer of
22 the 9th Precinct and then at the 10th Precinct.

23 He was also assigned to Organized Crime, where his
24 responsibility was to maintain the operation of a multi-
25 unit, consisting of Vice, Narcotics, Commercial Auto

1 Theft, Violent Crime Task Force, and the Detroit Fugitive
2 apprehension Team; and.

3 WHEREAS On November 9th 2020, Lieutenant Cox was
4 assigned to the 12th Precinct, correct, and Cox was
5 assigned to the 12th Precinct as a patrol lieutenant
6 where he managed and mentor sergeant and the next
7 generation of law enforcement until the completion of his
8 career on February 23rd, 2024. Lieutenant Cox was the
9 deserving recipient of the following awards. 3 Chief
10 Merit Awards, Ford Fireworks Award, both Consent Judgment
11 Awards, Major League Baseball, All-Star Recognition
12 Award, Rosa Parks Funeral Recognition Award, Super Bowl
13 XL Recognition Award, and the Aretha Franklin Funeral
14 Recognition Award, as well as numerous letters and
15 accommodations from citizens, supervisors and superiors,
16 and

17 WHEREAS Lieutenant Cox tirelessly served the Detroit
18 Police Department, the citizens of Detroit, and the
19 neighborhood community for more than 31 years, he has
20 served the Detroit Police Department assisting Detroit
21 with loyalty, professionalism, integrity, and dedication,
22 and is widely respected throughout the law enforcement
23 community as a consummate professional.

24 NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED.

25 That the Detroit Board of Police Commissioners,

1 speaking on behalf of the citizens of the great City of
2 Detroit, recognize and honor the lifelong contribution
3 and commitment to excellence in the public service of
4 Lieutenant Rodney Cox. His display of courage and
5 unwavering community spirit has improved the quality of
6 life for the citizens of Detroit. We wish you all the
7 best in your future endeavors. We thank and congratulate
8 Lieutenant Rodney Cox.

9 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: The Chair entertains a motion
10 to adopt this Resolution into our archives.

11 COMMISSIONER BURTON: Second.

12 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: I need a motion to start.

13 COMMISSIONER WOODS: So moved.

14 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: And then your second.

15 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: Second.

16 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Okay, it's been properly moved
17 and second. Is there any discussion? Hearing no
18 discussion, all those in favor, please signify by saying,
19 Aye.

20 COMMISSIONERS: Aye.

21 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: All those opposed, no? The
22 ayes have it. And congratulations on your 31 years of
23 service to the City of Detroit. Is Lieutenant Cox here?

24 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ: I don't see him, no.

25 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: No, he's not. But again, we

1 can ensure that he receives this honor. Just a few
2 housekeeping announcements, if you will. Under the Board
3 of Police Commissioner's Officers report you will find
4 that there will be a policy report that will be given
5 later today. At our last community meeting there was a
6 title given to meeting attendees calling them committee
7 members, but after the review of the bylaws, there is
8 currently no policy that allows for either staff or
9 community citizens to be considered as committee members.
10 And so we will hold off on giving that title until a
11 policy has been established, but they will be counted on
12 the record as meeting participants. But again, not as
13 committee members, as the bylaws does not afford for
14 that.

15 And then again as we prepare for our next community
16 meeting, we know that it has become a practice to ensure
17 that we honor individuals in our community who has done
18 amazing things. But I do encourage all of our
19 commissioners to review the award protocols because again
20 the awards that come from this body should be focused on
21 police safety, public safety, and oversight. And so we
22 want to make sure that we align our commendations with
23 that criteria because again, we want to make sure that it
24 maintains its weightiness by ensuring that we honor those
25 who indeed are doing amazing work in those regards. And

1 so, again, if any commissioner needs that policy to
2 review, we'll be more than willing to share that. But
3 again, I wanted to share those two bits of announcements
4 under our Board of Police Commissioners Officers report.
5 Are there any further questions or comments? Yes.
6 Commissioner Banks?

7 COMMISSIONER BANKS: Yes. Right here, Mr. Chair. When
8 you say police safety and oversight, giving the community
9 awards to the community residents in the city?

10 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Yes. So when we give
11 certificates of appreciation, or resolutions or any other
12 commendation. Again, we want to make sure that it is in
13 line with public safety and oversight, because again,
14 that is the business of this body. And so, as we honor,
15 it falls under those categories, those categories.

16 Mr. Chairman?

17 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Commissioner Bernard.

18 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: If a resident of the
19 commissioner's district is a distinguished, let's say,
20 business person who employs youth in that community,
21 which obviously affects public safety in that community,
22 to me, there would be no issue with respect to
23 recognizing that person. But there are things that happen
24 in the district that aren't you know, per se, law
25 enforcement, but that affect law enforcement and those

1 individuals should be able to.

2 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Absolutely. And these
3 definitions of public safety and oversight are broad
4 categories, but I guess what we're requesting is that we
5 ensure that the accommodations are tied to some level of
6 public safety and oversight. So just as you have stated
7 very eloquently, a business leader who has employed
8 someone who can reduce crime that is germane and
9 appropriate. Okay? But again, we will ensure that all of
10 our commissioners can review that protocol. So again, we
11 can ensure that we're aligned with our current policy. By
12 chance the Board desires to change that policy that is
13 within your right. But as the policy currently is
14 written, again, we want to make sure that we're aligned
15 with that policy.

16 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: - Everybody, those two
17 policies you mentioned.

18 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Yes, indeed.

19 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: Thank you.

20 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: You're so welcome. Any further
21 questions for the Board of Police Commissioner's Officers
22 report? Hearing none, we'll now move on to our Chief of
23 Police Report where AC Fitzgerald is in, on behalf of the
24 Chief.

25 AC FITZGERALD: Thank you Chair, President Pressley,

1 and to this honorable Board. Just quickly, an update on
2 the injured officer. We still have one at home doing his
3 best to recover. It's the officer that was shot in that
4 location over on Burt Road. Our crime data again, never
5 celebrating, but the numbers continue to trend in the
6 right direction. We're down 6 homicides over last year.
7 It's a 19% decrease. We're down 30 nonfatal shootings
8 over the last year, which sits at about a 31% decrease.
9 Our robberies continue to trickle down. We're at a 35%
10 decrease and carjackings are cut in half at this point in
11 time. It's about a 50% decrease. And our overall part one
12 violent crime is down just under 10%, which again, we're
13 excited. We're moving things in the right direction.

14 Hopefully we get down under our numbers from last
15 year. That would be ideal. And mental health related
16 calls for service. It looks like we have a slight
17 decrease over, not only calls for services, but services
18 calls that we've actually serviced. That leads me to
19 believe that maybe we're getting some of the right folks
20 the right amount of help they need. So I'm very excited
21 about that. Calls for service for overdose related calls
22 are also going down. And so are the number of calls we
23 actually had to service. So, very positive in my eyes.
24 Significant incidents this week. The first one you know,
25 listen, I don't rarely get any good calls in the middle

1 of the night, but this one especially was not a good
2 call.

3 On Tuesday, February 20th about 4:12 in the morning,
4 officers were dispatched to the 6,000 block of
5 Pennsylvania, and we had a non-fatal shooting of the 11-
6 year-old female. This girl was laying on the couch in the
7 front room, when two, I'll call them cowards; that's my
8 word, no one else's. Two that we know of for a fact. We
9 believe there were two more involved in the vehicle, ran
10 up and fired a bunch of rounds into that house. She is
11 still hanging on. She is a fighter. Continue to keep your
12 arms wrapped around here and hope for the best. We are
13 happy to report that we have taken four people into
14 custody. We are looking for an additional fifth person
15 and possibly a sixth person as this thing starts to build
16 out. I know the Chief said at his press conference it is
17 tied to a stolen car ring that ties back to another
18 shooting. I'm going to talk about it in a minute.

19 So we're making some ground on it, but it's
20 unfortunate that an 11-year-old is sitting in a hospital
21 right now when she should clearly be doing other things.
22 The second shooting was a fatal shooting on Friday,
23 February 16th, about 1:34 in the morning. This is another
24 incident. This is a 17-year-old boy that was sitting in
25 his car when another car drove by and fired a bunch of

1 rounds into it. That vehicle was a white Mustang that he
2 drove past him. That vehicle was recovered. It was one of
3 the vehicles that were stolen from a recent auto
4 dealership. And we discovered that the vehicle was on
5 fire. So we have gotten a little more work to do on this
6 one. I think we're getting closer, but as always, we'll
7 take any information we can.

8 If you can call Crime Stoppers or Detroit Rewards
9 TV, we will take that. Also, on Friday, February 16th,
10 about 6:58 PM, officers were dispatched to the 20,000
11 block of Stotter to investigate a fatal shooting. As the
12 officers arrived, they observed the victim lying in the
13 middle of the street with multiple gunshot wounds.
14 Officers admitted, excuse me, medical assistance until
15 the medics arrived, where they declared the victim
16 deceased. Detectives have been able to determine that
17 after the shooting, two suspects were seen running across
18 Van Dyke and a dark colored SUV was seen driving south
19 from Stotter. Again, if anyone has any information,
20 please contact Crime Stoppers at 1800SpeakUp, or Detroit
21 Rewards TV. And the last incident I want to cover
22 briefly, is from Tuesday, February 20th, at about 11:14
23 PM, officers were dispatched to the 13,000 block of
24 Wilford.

25 It was a ShotSpotter alert that went off. After

1 receiving the alert, there were 9 rounds. Officers
2 checked the area and found the victim lying in the yard.
3 When medics arrived, he was also pronounced dead. This
4 one's pretty much wide open at this point. We really,
5 really need the community's help. So, if anyone knows any
6 information about the incident that happened on February
7 20th, please call Crime Stoppers or Detroit Rewards TV.
8 Quick, positive story, Coffee with a Cop at the 4th
9 Precinct. This past Tuesday the 4th Precinct held Coffee
10 with a Cop, event with Commander Holderbaum. Community
11 members came out and neighborhood police officers had
12 discussions to build better relationships. It went very,
13 very well. We have a one day hiring fair this Saturday.
14 So you're all welcome to come out if you wish from 7:00
15 AM to 5:00 PM. It's a one stop shop. You can come through
16 and do your application and take your test and do
17 everything. And we will make it as quick and as painless
18 as we possibly can, if you're interested in joining the
19 DPD, whether it be sworn or non-sworn. And then the
20 Precinct Purple Heart Health events, several of our
21 Precincts have had it throughout. February. It is just in
22 recognition of February being American Heart Month.

23 And lastly, for me, that was an early question.
24 Lastly for me is that just this morning we had a
25 celebration of life home going for Danny Newkirk. Officer

1 Newkirk recently passed after 30- active member, 38 years
2 of service. So please keep his family and your prayers.
3 That is all I have.

4 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Thank you. Questions for
5 Assistant Chief Fitzgerald? Commissioner Burton.

6 COMMISSIONER BURTON: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
7 Question for the Chief. You know, looking at the
8 department's budget, far as \$400,000 for six square miles
9 for ShotSpotter, you know, the community wants to know
10 how effective has ShotSpotter been, especially for the
11 price tag that the city is invested in. You know, we want
12 to know when it comes to alerts, arrests, convictions
13 falsely, detained and lawsuits. Do you have any of those
14 numbers going back since the time that Detroit started
15 being part of the ShotSpotter program?

16 AC FITZGERALD: Yes, sir. And through the Chair. I
17 don't have them with me, but that's something that's very
18 easily attainable. Again, the value of ShotSpotter, you
19 can't place a dollar on it. It can be put within 9 feet
20 of where a shot was going off. We don't have folks that
21 can come out, want to call the police on a regular basis.
22 That puts us there quickly. And as quickly as we can get
23 there, identify all these shots, it saves lives, it helps
24 people. It is a valuable, valuable tool.

25 COMMISSIONER BURTON: Chief, are you aware that

1 Chicago is canceling their ShotSpotter program later this
2 year?

3 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: Your microphone, Mr.
4 Commissioner. Thank you.

5 COMMISSIONER BURTON: Are you aware that the City of
6 Chicago was pulling away from the ShotSpotter program.

7 AC FITZGERALD: I am, but I don't know why they would
8 do it. And this isn't Chicago. This is the City of
9 Detroit. They don't do it like we do. They're not as good
10 as we are. They don't have as strong a policy as we have.
11 So, again, my opinion, my humble opinion, it's an
12 extremely valuable tool that we need.

13 COMMISSIONER BURTON: Chief, how valuable is the
14 ShotSpotter program when you have a lot of alerts, very
15 few guns confiscated, not enough arrests, not enough guns
16 confiscated, and then you still have lawsuits and cities
17 pulling away from this. Why is Detroit still involved in
18 the ShotSpotter program?

19 AC FITZGERALD: And again, through the Chair. I don't
20 know where you're getting your information from. Most of
21 it seems anecdotal. It is very, very valuable. And it is
22 like the most recent one I talked about. This young man
23 was sitting in a backyard. It could have taken us days,
24 weeks to find this young man, but ShotSpotter put us
25 exactly where it was. We had all 9 rounds, and it led us

1 to something. It's leading us down the right path. So
2 sometimes it's not the quick we get out there and we lock
3 a lot of folks up. We take a lot of guns off the street,
4 extremely valuable. But stuff like that, we'd have to
5 wait forever. Not forever, but a long period of time to
6 get that information.

7 COMMISSIONER BURTON: Are you familiar with the
8 Silvon Simmons case in Rochester, New York, where a judge
9 say ShotSpotter was unreliable? And are you aware of the
10 multimillion dollar lawsuit that falsely arrested and
11 convicted Michael Williams out of Chicago, based on skank
12 evidence from ShotSpotter technology?

13 AC FITZGERALD: I'm not for either, but I'd be much
14 more excited and much more enthused if these were Detroit
15 cases you were citing the problems that we had in
16 Detroit, but you haven't had that yet. So I don't know
17 what Rochester York is doing. I don't know why that judge
18 ruled the way they did.

19 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Thank you. Any further
20 questions? Commissioner Banks.

21 COMMISSIONER BANKS: Yeah. Through the Chair. AC
22 Fitzgerald, now ShotSpotter is supposed to have accuracy
23 over 90%. Are you aware of that?

24 AC FITZGERALD: Yes.

25 COMMISSIONER BANKS: Okay. Now, what zip code was

1 this in that case on Van Dyke, where the assailants were,
2 I think running. What zip code is that? Was it District
3 3, 4234? You didn't mention the zip code. You said Van
4 Dyke.

5 AC FITZGERALD: Yeah. I don't have it with me, the
6 actual zip code or area code. I don't have it. Sorry.

7 COMMISSIONER BANKS: I'm all set, Mr. Chair.

8 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Thank you. Any further
9 questions or comments? Commissioner Bernard.

10 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: Just quickly Deputy Chief
11 Fitzgerald. I think that Commissioner Burton's questions
12 were right on in terms of ShotSpotter, and I think that
13 perhaps your office or maybe the legal department, Mr. Ha
14 is here, whoever should be able to respond to those
15 questions. We are not on an island. We are concerned
16 about what happens in other cities and other communities
17 using the technology that costs us millions of dollars.
18 So these reports about it being inefficient, ineffective
19 for all practical purposes, not worth the money, are
20 important. And I think that kind of analysis is
21 appropriate for all of our technological type programs.
22 Is it worth it? I mean, I know we can spend more money
23 for it. We can throw money in anything, but is it worth
24 it? And what do your colleagues in other cities think
25 about it? That's important. So I don't think it can be

1 dismissed. And if you can respond, maybe not today, but
2 maybe at our next meeting to his questions, it would be
3 great.

4 AC FITZGERALD: Yeah. And through the Chair, and I
5 don't mean to dismiss the questions.

6 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: Thank you.

7 AC FITZGERALD The problem is that you're comparing
8 apples and oranges. I don't know what Chicago does
9 compared to what we do. I can give you plenty of data,
10 how it's effective in Detroit, plenty of data. I would be
11 more than happy to do that. But to reach out to Rochester
12 in New York to see how they're doing it or how they're
13 using it, I don't even know how they're using it. I don't
14 know if they have two officers assigned to it or if they
15 have a thousand officers assigned to it. Do they kind of
16 haphazardly go out and look for casings? Do they actually
17 have a team to go out, look for casings? Do they put
18 things through NIBIN? Do they do all the investigative
19 leads that we do here that make it a valuable tool? But I
20 am more than happy to reach out and see why they got rid
21 of it, and we will also be able to provide you with the
22 data why we say it works.

23 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: Thank you.

24 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Commissioner Woods.

25 COMMISSIONER WOODS: How are you doing AC?

1 AC FITZGERALD: Good, sir.

2 COMMISSIONER WOODS: So on this incident that
3 happened on January 11th with Officer Joshua, was that a
4 ShotSpotter call?

5 AC FITZGERALD: Oh, I'm sorry. Which one was it you
6 were asking?

7 COMMISSIONER WOODS: With Officer Joshua who got
8 shot?

9 AC FITZGERALD: Oh yeah. It came out originally as a
10 muffled ShotSpotter, and sometimes that happens when a
11 round is inside of a home. And it could also be that it
12 came out also as suppressed. It could be that it comes
13 out of an area. We've had requests from outside agencies
14 and cities that want to have access to our data because
15 they can pick up stuff in their city as well, on a
16 border.

17 COMMISSIONER WOODS: So when that happened and
18 Officer Joshua and his partner responded that someone was
19 shot, right?

20 AC FITZGERALD: Yes.

21 COMMISSIONER WOODS: And he went into that danger?

22 AC FITZGERALD; He did. Yes, sir.

23 COMMISSIONER WOODS: And subsequently got shot.

24 AC FITZGERALD: Yes.

25 COMMISSIONER WOODS: Do you have a number of

1 scenarios where ShotSpotter was used and they were able
2 to intervene in situations?

3 AC FITZGERALD: Yes, sir. We do, and I can provide
4 for you at any point. Yes.

5 COMMISSIONER WOODS: Yes. And as it relates to the
6 Chicago report at the end of that report, they said they
7 were evaluated at the end. They don't know whether or not
8 if they're going to get rid of it or not, right?

9 AC FITZGERALD; Yes, sir.

10 COMMISSIONER WOODS: So it's not conclusive that
11 Chicago will get rid of it, but the way of how they were
12 doing things that they had some questions about how they
13 were operating it.

14 AC FITZGERALD: That is correct.

15 COMMISSIONER WOODS: How many lives do you think
16 that's probably being intervened say, with this
17 technology?

18 AC FITZGERALD: So it would strictly be a guess, but
19 I would say many. It is an extremely valuable tool that
20 the officers utilize every single day. They can pull it
21 up on their phones as they're going there, within feet
22 you can pick up where those gunshots are fired.

23 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Commissioner Smith.

24 COMMISSIONER SMITH: Good afternoon. Through the
25 Chair. I understand that police departments are different

1 and policies are different per state and cities. Being a
2 part of the Shot Stopper group in a CVI, I can only
3 contest what Detroit offers. I have seen where
4 ShotSpotter is definitely effective in our community. As
5 stated before, I can give you two different scenarios
6 that ShotSpotter was effective. We have one where
7 ShotSpotter went off. A woman, excuse me, the officers
8 went out, the woman was near fatally shot, once in the
9 head, once in the abdomen, and because of the ShotSpotter
10 going off, they were able to get her, medics were able to
11 arrive and get her to the hospital, and she's alive
12 today. That was on the Eastside of Detroit in the 9th
13 Precinct. The second incident was on the Westside of
14 Detroit where there was not a ShotSpotter.

15 The officer approached the vehicle where the woman
16 had been shot. It was reported as an overdose, found that
17 the woman was fatally wounded, she was also pregnant, and
18 to track the scene found that someone else was fatally
19 wounded as well. It wasn't present. The third incident is
20 back in September of 2023, September 24th, to be exact,
21 there was a fatal shooting at a hookah lounge on West
22 Seven Mile. The officers responded because of the shot
23 spotter going off. Unfortunately, one was fatally
24 wounded, others were saved because of the ShotSpotter and
25 the officers coming in a timely manner. So, in my

1 opinion, ShotSpotter has been very effective in our city
2 and has been very effective in saving lives within our
3 community.

4 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Thank you. I don't know if you
5 want to respond, Commissioner Woods?

6 AC FITZGERALD: No, sir. Go ahead.

7 COMMISSIONER WOODS: Yeah. As it relates to
8 ShotSpotter being used by itself, independently, would
9 that be, or any of your technology, is that used solely
10 to arrest anyone?

11 AC FITZGERALD: I'm not sure I understand your
12 question.

13 COMMISSIONER WOODS: As far as, you know, you get a
14 hit or even like dealing with, I would say, facial
15 recognition, you're talking about ShotSpotter and all
16 these technologies and things of that nature, can those
17 be used independently to arrest someone?

18 AC FITZGERALD: No, sir. I'm sorry. Through the
19 Chair, these are investigative leads. Everything across
20 the board we use technology for is an investigative lead
21 to further enhance an ongoing investigation already. So
22 it just helps you and sometimes it can point you in the
23 right direction, but it is not the end all, be all that
24 we can put handcuffs on someone because of.

25 Recently the policy was updated to ensure that even

1 more, right?

2 AC FITZGERALD: Yes, sir.

3 COMMISSIONER WOODS: Okay. Thank you.

4 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Thank you. Any further
5 questions or comments.

6 COMMISSIONER BURTON: To the Chair?

7 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Commissioner Burton.

8 COMMISSIONER BURTON: You know, from our civil
9 liberties activist community we do not want to see
10 microphone sensors in America's blackest and poor city
11 like Detroit. What it is with these microphone sensors in
12 communities of color, what it is, it's unwanted snooping
13 is what it is. It violates one's civil liberties. In
14 addition it's an expensive price tag that costs roughly
15 \$400,000 that cover 6 square miles. But the department
16 can't share with us today the total alerts in deployment
17 and the arrest and convictions or pending lawsuits or
18 lawsuits that were awarded. Because of this technology,
19 we look at cities like Dayton, Ohio, they pulled the plug
20 on ShotSpotter. Now we're looking at Chicago, pulling the
21 plug. You know, Michael Williams in Chicago was
22 wrongfully arrested, served over a year in prison for a
23 crime he didn't commit, based off of skank evidence from
24 ShotSpotter technology. There's no question that these
25 cities are pulling away. Why is Detroit still continuing

1 with a ShotSpotter program? We have fiduciary
2 responsibilities when it comes to civilian oversight,
3 where we can actually shut it down.

4 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Alright. So I think that this
5 has been a lively conversation that again, I think has
6 illuminated, you know, both sides of the argument that I
7 think is present in our community. I would encourage the
8 department to be prepared with that data for next week's
9 meeting. So that, you know, the aggregate numbers that
10 commissioners are looking for can be provided along with
11 the anecdotal information. And I think that will be a
12 benefit, not only to the commissioners, but also to the
13 public. There are no further questions or comments. We
14 thank you so much for your report and we will now move on
15 to oral communications.

16 MS. UNDERWOOD: Good afternoon, Mr. Chair.

17 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Good afternoon.

18 MS UNDERWOOD: We're going to start back with Ms.
19 Smith, are you going to speak today? So we're going to
20 have Ms. Smith and we're going to have Ms. Freda Butler,
21 then we'll go into zoom.

22 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: It does look kind of far
23 today.

24 MS. SMITH: So far away. Good afternoon,
25 commissioners.

1 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Good afternoon.

2 MS. SMITH: I am really upset with this meeting today
3 because all you do is come here and complain and complain
4 and complain. I'm from Chicago, I was born there. As a
5 matter of fact, I'm going over there next weekend, and I
6 know the secretary to the mayor, I'm going to make it my
7 business to go over there tomorrow, I mean, next weekend,
8 and talk to her and ask her, do you think the mayor,
9 Mayor Johnson has any kind of problem with what is it
10 shot fire? Why are we complaining? Are we doing enough
11 over here as we can with this crime? We have a police
12 force that takes care of people whenever they do wrong.
13 They are trying to get rid of the hijackers. You got
14 someone that's killed last week. Come on people, stop
15 complaining and do something to improve. And I mean also
16 to this young man sitting here because I know he is going
17 to get up here and complain about what the police are
18 doing. I love my police department. I have dealt with
19 them since '73. I find they don't have the best of
20 reports, but they're doing the best they can. Do you
21 realize that they're risking... I have said over and over
22 again, they are risking their lives. Why don't you get
23 out there and do better? Get the parents who have these
24 kids ripping and running the streets and having guns. I
25 am so disgusted when you talk about how the police is not

1 doing, and don't talk about Chicago because they're worse
2 than we are. I was born and raised there, and I'm going
3 over there next weekend and I'm going to look and see how
4 those immigrants are in front of the police station.

5 We don't have any immigrants in front of our police
6 station, and it's overwhelming over there. I talk to them
7 just about every week, what's going over there in Chi
8 y'all and they tell me. So don't complain and compare us
9 with Chicago. We are doing a hell of a lot better than
10 what Chicago people are doing. And as far as the mayor's
11 concerned, he's doing a pitiful job. I must say that. But
12 I feel sorry for him because he doesn't have the
13 experience of the police influence. One last thing before
14 you tell me, I get out.

15 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Quickly.

16 MS. SMITH: I want to thank Commissioner Woods. You
17 did a heck of a job with my son's wedding. And I want you
18 guys to know, respect him. He may not say enough, but
19 he's a hell raiser. But he did a good job with the
20 wedding and I thank him over and over again. God bless
21 you.

22 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Thank you, and
23 congratulations.

24 MS. SMITH: Thank you. Go on and complain. I know
25 you're going to get up there and complain.

1 MS. BUTLER: Good afternoon.

2 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Good afternoon.

3 MS. BUTLER: Commissioners, as President of the 2nd
4 Precinct, our neighborhood police officers are working in
5 our communities to keep our communities safe, but they're
6 also engaged with our children. They are mentors and
7 spend some time in classrooms. As a former teacher and
8 counselor, I believe more can be done. We can criticize
9 what's happening in our schools and communities and do
10 nothing or work to help make change. We cannot build a
11 house starting with the roof, but we must lay a
12 foundation. It takes funds and efforts to provide
13 enrichment along with what the teachers are doing in the
14 classrooms. With the officers interacting with our
15 children, we will remove fear and distrust of the police.
16 We want to start with third graders because their social
17 and educational skills come together. We want to provide
18 enrichment programs to contribute to their education. And
19 we need funds. A single bus costs over \$300, and we have
20 6 elementary schools in our area. The outcome of our
21 enrichment programs will build character and better
22 citizens. As a council working with our NPOs and
23 communities, include us in your budget. We will be
24 grateful and accountable. And by the way, Detroit is a
25 gold mine and it's up to us. A lot of us complain, but we

1 don't do what we need to do for ourselves. Suspect us,
2 Thank you.

3 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Thank you.

4 MS. UNDERWOOD: Mr. Chair, we'll move into zoom.

5 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Okay.

6 MS. UNDERWOOD: We'll have Mr. Renard Monczunski,
7 please excuse the pronunciation. After Mr. Renard, we'll
8 have Chris Gilmer-Hill, Laura Herberg, and former
9 Commissioner William Davis, and that'll be it.

10 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Thank you, Mr. Renard.

11 MR. RENARD: Hi. Good afternoon.

12 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Go right ahead.

13 MR. RENARD: Hi, good afternoon. For the record. My
14 name is Renard Monczunski. I'm a District 6 resident, and
15 long-term resident of the City of Detroit. I'm also a bus
16 rider and I'm a proud bus rider. I am calling into this
17 body to just elicit a few concerns that I have about this
18 proposal that's been unannounced. But we found out that
19 DPD Police are going to be deployed onto the Transit you
20 know, system with DDOT. We already have a transit police
21 system. We have a good relationship with their leadership
22 and their staff. They're responsive and their
23 communication is excellent because we get to meet with
24 them monthly and express our security concerns and the
25 violations that Transit Centers and things of that sort

1 have been going down because of their increased presence.
2 They also have good training and understanding because
3 they know how to deal with populations and individuals
4 with different cognitive disabilities.

5 So there may be people with autism who may be a
6 little bit slower. I don't know the other words for that,
7 but at the risk of offending someone, they have the
8 training to be able to deal with disabilities that are
9 invisible, like someone being deaf. I have major concerns
10 about DPD Police being deployed onto the Transit system
11 due to their historical racial profiling concerns;
12 concerns about the lack of training for people with
13 disabilities. There's been a record of violent incidents
14 in terms of mental health incidents when they're called.
15 There's a lack of de-escalation. So instead of someone
16 getting help for a mental health crisis, they're shocked
17 to death. And that's a major concern that I have. Also,
18 because this hasn't been brought up in a popular forum or
19 a government forum, I believe that this is a violation of
20 our civil rights under Title 6 of the 1964 Civil Rights
21 Act, where anything dealing with security and proposal
22 with the buses should be announced to rider so they can
23 able to make their public comment to that. So, I just
24 wanted to ask, who did this? Thank you. Who decided?

25 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: AC Fitzgerald, Is this a

1 proposal or has it been done?

2 AC FITZGERALD: It has not been done. It is a
3 proposal at this time. We are transitioning toward a date
4 of possibly July 1st if everything falls into place. If
5 it does fall into place, we will take over the DDOT
6 portion of patrols, the Detroit Police will, and then the
7 People Mover Police will continue to do what they've been
8 doing at the People Mover Police. We've taken over the
9 QLine as of February 1st. And so far I've received
10 nothing but glowing, a lot of excitement out of us taking
11 over the QLine. So we are moving in that direction. When
12 we do, it'll be fully staffed up. It will be more people
13 than DDOT currently has on their total budget. So they
14 will see no reduction in any kind of service and be more
15 than happy to meet monthly with this gentleman and other
16 bus drivers, and we've met with their union. They feel
17 really confident with us. So we're moving in that right
18 direction, sir.

19 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Thank you.

20 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: May I ask a question?

21 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Yes, Commissioner Bernard,
22 quickly.

23 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: But why are we doing this?
24 We've had several comments, not just this gentleman's,
25 but others talking about how the Transit Police know how

1 to deal with kids, they deal with youth, they deal with
2 senior citizens, they deal with the people that ride
3 buses. They're used to it. They have an expertise in that
4 area, so to speak. DPD has never done that. Why are you
5 interested in assuming that responsibility? How much
6 money is involved in it, if you assume it?

7 AC FITZGERALD: I don't want to get into the
8 budgetary stuff at this point, but it almost makes it
9 sound like we don't know how to deal with kids and
10 seniors and people with disabilities. We do. We are the
11 absolute premier agency in this country, ma'am. So we are
12 more versed, better versed to deal with all of those
13 things, whether it be on a bus, whether it be on a boat,
14 wherever it is. We can handle this, and then some. This
15 is probably one of the reasons why we were asked to do
16 it.

17 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: Okay. But why? The question is
18 why, and how much money is involved with this?

19 AC FITZGERALD: We will be taking over a portion of
20 the budget from transit police for sure. I just don't
21 know what that final number is.

22 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: Okay. But why?

23 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: So we can put that question in
24 writing and get a formal response as to what initiated
25 the change and the rationale behind it so that you might

1 receive clarity on its intentions. Commissioner Woods.

2 COMMISSIONER WOODS: Was it stated that many of the
3 Transit officers, the current officer, were they under
4 this proposal where they roll over to DPD?

5 AC FITZGERALD: Through the Chair, there are a lot of
6 different rules and things we need to work through. Like,
7 some of those folks have left DPD and they've retired, so
8 they're collecting a pension. So they would have to
9 freeze their pension to come back. Some of the folks over
10 there are licensed through the State of Michigan and
11 others are not. So those that are not, if they come over,
12 they would have to go through the academy to become
13 licensed. So that is some of the stuff we're working
14 through now.

15 COMMISSIONER WOODS: Thank you.

16 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Alright, Ms. Underwood, our
17 next public commenter.

18 MR. HILL: Good afternoon. Can I be heard?

19 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Yes, go right ahead.

20 MR. GILMER-HILL: Hi, my name's Chris Gilmer-Hill,
21 lifelong resident of the second District. Firstly, I'd
22 like to urge this Board to take action on the report
23 that's been out for a long time, recommending
24 disciplinary action against Commissioner Bell. This Board
25 has so far failed to uphold its oversight duty to hold

1 itself accountable, and we can't trust the Board to hold
2 its own members accountable. I'm not sure how we can
3 trust members of our police department. I'd also like to
4 specifically thank Commissioner Burton for raising valid
5 concerns today about ShotSpotter and its utility in the
6 future within our city, as well as to thank Commissioner
7 Bernard and others for echoing those valid concerns.
8 Amongst the many things that the deputy chief
9 unfortunately did not know today he made it very clear
10 that he does not know or care to know about the policies
11 of other cities regarding ShotSpotter.

12 Yet, in the same breath, he bragged that DPD is
13 letting these several other cities in the area freely
14 access surveillance data, surveillance data that targets
15 destroyers. We're giving away this data in whatever form
16 to other cities, despite having no clarity or no
17 knowledge about the policies that govern their use of
18 ShotSpotter. We certainly have massive problems that do
19 need to be fixed with our own policy, but the fact that
20 we're giving this surveillance data to other cities where
21 their policies and their departments are not at all like
22 ours. That should be a massive red flag. But for this
23 Board to treat that as an emergency and urgently halt all
24 sharing of ShotSpotter data with other police departments
25 until such time as the police department can provide a

1 comprehensive accounting of the ShotSpotter policies in
2 these other departments, and the ways that they are
3 different from, or similar to our own policy. Without
4 that guarantee of accountability, none of this data
5 should be getting into the hands of other unaccountable
6 police departments. Thank you.

7 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Thank you.

8 MS. UNDERWOOD: The final speaker, Mr. Chair is
9 former Commissioner William Davis.

10 MR. DAVIS: Good afternoon. Can I be heard?

11 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Yes, you can. Go right ahead.

12 MR. DAVIS: You know, I think that you all need to
13 closely look at the ramifications of having Detroit
14 police officers take over the duties of the Transit
15 Police. Perhaps it might be better to look at why there
16 are so many vacancies in the Transit Police Unit, and
17 also whether or not if the Detroit Police take that over,
18 will that be to the detriment of the community. I live in
19 District 7, Police P, 2. Does that mean that there'd be
20 less police to patrol my neighborhood and other people's
21 neighborhood? Would that also increase the possibility of
22 more lawsuits against the Detroit Police Department as
23 the City of Detroit retiring president of an organization
24 representing city retirees, and also as President of
25 Detroit Chapter, National Action Network. I do not want

1 the City of Detroit having to pay out more and more and
2 more lawsuits. Right now, they're paying out millions of
3 dollars. You know, I think that we need to do something
4 about reducing the number of lawsuits and make sure
5 there's greater accountability. You know, I don't know
6 what's going to happen or what it could mean, but before
7 you all approve this, hopefully you all have been asked
8 about it, and you all voted on it, because I would think
9 you all should before they start talking about making a
10 major change in July. Thank you.

11 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Thank you. And we're grateful
12 for everyone's comments today. With that, we'll... Vice
13 Chair Bell.

14 VICE CHAIRPERSON BELL: Thank you, Mr. Chair. I just
15 wanted to respond to the last comments in reference to
16 pending disciplinary action against Commissioner Bell.
17 There's no pending disciplinary action pending by this
18 Board or any passport. I think we would formally respond
19 to that at a later date in time with the past chair of
20 that Board in terms of the 2019 investigation IG report.
21 I think you have to review that report and the outcome of
22 it we will reflect on at a later date and time. Thank
23 you, Mr. Chair.

24 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Thank you. Okay. And so now
25 we'll move on to the presentation to the Board where we

1 have a DPD budget presentation by Mr. Nazarko.

2 MR. NAZARKO: Good afternoon Board. I'm here on
3 behalf of the office of the Chief Financial Officer, DPD
4 to present to you the department's request for the 2025
5 budget that starts on July 1st of this year, and ends on
6 June 30th, 2025. So please, next slide.

7 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Commissioners, you should find
8 this after tab 4 in your packets.

9 MR. NAZARKO: Yes, for clarification, this
10 presentation was provided to the Board last week, I
11 believe. And then the Board had some questions that for
12 the budget portion I tried to answer, and I submitted
13 those in writing yesterday as well.

14 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: Microphone, please.

15 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: In the microphone.

16 MR. NAZARKO: This presentation will talk about the
17 numbers that we submitted, the budget timeline, and then
18 some additional information as far as the personnel is
19 concerned. Through the budget request the purpose and
20 department and the city tried to have safer neighborhoods
21 to achieve a vibrant and beautiful community, to have
22 economic equity and opportunity to achieve efficient and
23 innovative operations, and to have effective governance.
24 Next slide, please.

25 I'm trying to switch between my printout and looking

1 at the monitor there, but unfortunately, those are too
2 small for my distance. So I'm going to read from my
3 slides. Now, the budget process is a year round process
4 that officially starts around August of any given year,
5 and then ends at the end of April when the City Council
6 approves the budget for all departments, including DPD.
7 We do have two deadlines, so to speak. We have the
8 internal mandated deadlines that we have internally, and
9 they're not mandated by the city charter or any
10 ordinance. However, those internal deadlines are geared
11 towards meeting the stricter deadlines that are mandated
12 by the budget ordinance and the city charter. And those
13 deadlines, basically, the internal ones start in, as I
14 said earlier, start around August, September, and then
15 they finalize when the budget is approved from the City
16 Council sometime before April 30th of any given year.
17 Next slide, please.

18 The slide that you see now includes or talks about
19 the charter or ordinance mandated deadlines. And based on
20 those deadlines by February 18th, the budget director
21 should submit to the mayor the tabulation of the
22 department's request. By February 27th, the mayor
23 completes the review and submits the budget back to the
24 budget director. Then the mayor is supposed to submit and
25 make a presentation to the City Council by March 7th.

1 Then City Council completes the consideration of the
2 budget by April 7th, and then the budget should be
3 approved by April 30th. So the Financial Review
4 Commission that's still around and oversees the finance
5 for the City of Detroit has to have an approved budget by
6 April 30th, in their hand. And that's a mandatory
7 deadline that cannot be missed. Now, in summary, the
8 budget request that DPD submitted this year to the
9 mayor's office and consequently to through the City
10 Council is not that different or doesn't have any
11 increases, major increases, I should say, because there
12 are some small increases from the baseline. And we call
13 the baseline the current year's budget. So, for the
14 budget 2025 request is not much different from the
15 current year's 2024 budget, other than, you know, a few
16 major items that I have listed on this slide. And one of
17 them is the increase in the amount of 11.5 million
18 dollars that is as a result of the labor agreements that
19 were ratified back in 2022. So this is a mandatory
20 increase that the city is obligated to budget for. There
21 is a slight decrease that we expect in the fringe
22 benefits, and fringe benefits are anywhere from the types
23 of insurances that we provide to the department to the
24 taxes that we pay on behalf of the employees. So we
25 expect a slight decrease in that line item, close to \$3.5

1 million.

2 The department has submitted a supplemental request
3 for additional personnel, 25 police officers, 14 of which
4 should be NPOs, and 11 CITs for a total close to \$3
5 million, \$2.4 million for personnel and benefits and
6 \$600,000 for operating expenses. However, through the
7 discussions with the budget office the DPD has come to
8 realize that this item may or may not make it to the
9 proposal that goes to the City Council. And the reason is
10 not because it is not anything else other than the money
11 issue because the city this year, given the current
12 stream of revenues and the increased costs, as we said,
13 you know, because the labor costs are not just increasing
14 in the police department, they are higher across the
15 almost 7,500 employees in the City of Detroit.

16 Therefore, this may be, as I call it, a casualty of
17 the money situation. But DPD, just for your information
18 for the information before the Board, DPD requested those
19 25 police officers. Now some numbers and again, these are
20 very high level overviews of the numbers. For the current
21 year, for example, we have budgeted revenues in tune of
22 \$102 million. And next year, the budget request is only
23 \$100 million. The reason being is that the city forecasts
24 that one major source of revenue for the police
25 departments is the income tax, and we are projecting to

1 have lower income tax collections in the 2025 fiscal year
2 compared to the current year. And the line items goes as
3 follows: the general fund \$84 million special revenues
4 \$8.4 million.

5 And if you have a question, what the special revenue
6 consists of, it is the money that we get for E911
7 operations, and the towing fund. And I know that through
8 your questions, you had asked some pointed questions
9 about the towing operations or rather towing budget. And
10 the response I provided was, they included detailed
11 numbers as far as how much we collect or expect to
12 collect from towing operations, and how much we expect to
13 spend in that department. As far as the expenditures go,
14 the DPD is requesting in a general fund for the next
15 fiscal year to spend \$399 million. The special fund
16 expenditures, again, towing plus 911 operations, \$8.4
17 million for future fund \$1.2 million, and the grant
18 expenditures in the amount of \$6.8 million. Next slide,
19 please. The expenditures by fund, again, are listed in
20 this slide, and so is the personnel request. On the
21 bottom half of the slide, you see that the personnel
22 basically is staying intact with the exception of the
23 supplemental request of 25 additional police officers.

24 We discussed the changes from this current fiscal
25 year to the next one. One change that I did not discuss

1 and is shown on this slide is the fact that the cost for
2 operating the Detroit Detention Center for next year is
3 expected to grow by \$3 million. And this is basically the
4 amount of money that the City of Detroit pays to the
5 Michigan Department of Corrections to handle the
6 operations at DDC. Again, this is just a pass through
7 charge. However, the City of Detroit provides the amount
8 to the State of Michigan on a contractual basis. AC
9 Fitzgerald can talk more about that, but the arrangement
10 between DDC and the MDOC is expected to end at some point
11 in the next year or so. And then the DPD will be looking
12 for different alternatives, but speaking strictly of this
13 year's budget the DDC is going to cost \$3 million more in
14 its operations. Next slide, please.

15 Capital expenditures. This slide shows the needs or
16 the request of DPD for various capital expenditures, and
17 as you see here, we are asking for \$6 million to
18 completely renovate the 12th Precinct. And then we are
19 asking for the Grinnell tow lots upgrades, boathouse and
20 sea wall upgrades, other facility upgrades throughout the
21 DPD and then Grand River Toyota upgrades to the tune of
22 \$1.5 million. I want to point out that these are the
23 requests that the department put forward through the
24 budget process. This is not money that is supported by
25 General fund dollars, at least in this budget. This, if

1 it goes through, will be funded by the Capital Projects
2 Fund or bonds if there are any available. However my
3 hunch is that most of these projects, we may not be able
4 to fund.

5 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: You said most of them we will
6 not be able to fund.

7 MR. NAZARKO: Most of it looks like the current
8 situation of the money that is available for next year is
9 not going to be able to support that, but, never say
10 never.

11 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: All of these?

12 MR. NAZARKO: Not all of this. I said part of this.

13 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: Which part is going to be
14 funded?

15 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: He doesn't know. Continue.

16 MR. NAZARKO: The next slide that basically again
17 talks about the personnel. As I said, the numbers from
18 2024 to 2025 are not different with the exception of the
19 25 additional police officers. Next slide. This slide
20 shows the various grants that we are sure that we are
21 going to receive in the next fiscal year, and we have
22 budgeted accordingly. However, this is not an all-
23 inclusive list for a couple of reasons. A) There are
24 grants, that become available after the budget you know,
25 it's put together back in December this information was

1 available to us, and B) the fiscal year for the City of
2 Detroit that ends on June 30th is different from the
3 fiscal year of the institutions or governments, I should
4 say, that grants money to the City of Detroit. For
5 example, the State of Michigan fiscal year ends on June
6 30th, and the federal government's fiscal year ends on
7 October 31st of any given year. Therefore the grant
8 spent, and the time that the grants are awarded overlaps
9 with our city budget. So, therefore, again, this is a
10 snapshot at that point in time. But as more grants become
11 available, then we involve the City Council and DPD to
12 apply and fully accept them.

13 And that is my last slide in the presentation.
14 Again, for the Board's information, the questions that
15 you asked I believe there were 15 of them. They were
16 provided to you in writing, and I'd be happy to answer
17 any questions if...

18 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Yes. And again, you all should
19 see those questions in the responses to those directly
20 after the presentation. So, are there any questions for
21 Mr. Nazarko? Commissioner Bernard?

22 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: Yes. I see your responses to
23 the specific questions that were asked of you regarding
24 the budget. And incidentally, there is a line item in
25 there for ShotSpotter, I think page 3 or something like

1 that. But your responses to the questions are largely
2 non-responsive, and you reference, you say, see attached
3 budget report. How much does it cost the City of Detroit
4 to provide a towing operation for the police department?
5 You say, see attached budget report? There is no attached
6 budget report specifically on towing. You say that we
7 don't budget for Project Green Light, which obviously
8 would be part of the Real Time Crime Center. There's
9 nothing. Zero.

10 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Commissioner Bernard, I want
11 you to look at page number 9, where it says towing and it
12 says \$1.2 million to support towing operations, including
13 tow truck maintenance, private towing services, tow lots
14 and rentals. So when he's suggesting to review the
15 report, I believe that's what he's pointing to.

16 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: I understand that, but you can
17 also answer the question directly and not have me go fish
18 through 8 or 9 pages.

19 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: I don't know how much more
20 direct it can be.

21 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: And it's more than that,
22 because you have two different line items in there for
23 toll lots. One is, I think 3.5 million, and the other is
24 like 1 point some odd million, so I don't know. The toll
25 situation is much more expensive than what we're looking

1 at, at least if you add it all up, it's a different, as
2 you know,

3 MR. NAZARKO: Through the Chair. The towing
4 operations are just for, you know, the information for
5 the honorable commissioner, is that we budget
6 approximately \$3.2 million for tow operations. And that
7 includes personnel that includes the operation of tow
8 trucks, that includes the money we pay to the tow
9 vendors, and that includes the money we pay for tow lot
10 security. However, that number, that's the budgeted
11 number, the revenues that come throughout the year and
12 other expenditures that can incur or are required to be
13 increased during the year are not reflected in that
14 budget. That the commission. The 1.2 commissioner, Mr.
15 Chair, you are absolutely correct. That's the additional
16 amount that we asked from last year's to this year's
17 budget. We are asking for an additional \$1.2 million
18 because of the repairs we need to do at the tow yard
19 facilities, plus the increased cost of security to
20 provide security for the tow lots. And that's over and
21 above last year's budget.

22 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: But the total amount that
23 you're asking for, the two tow lots, as I recall, is more
24 than 3 million.

25 MR. NAZARKO: That is correct, but I...

1 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: I'm talking about just to
2 resurface lots

3 MR. NAZARKO: Madam Commissioner, the total budget
4 is, you know, \$3.2 million. And that includes, I'm not
5 going by tow lots. I'm going by the total tow operations,
6 including personnel, maintenance of tow lots, maintenance
7 of trucks, and all that.

8 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Thank you. Commissioner Woods.

9 COMMISSIONER WOODS: Yes, as it relates to the towing
10 situation, and these are all City of Detroit tow vehicles
11 and tow operations?

12 MR. NAZARKO: That is correct. Those are all the City
13 of Detroit, within the boundaries of the City of Detroit.
14 However, the operations are split between the department,
15 or truck equipment or tow trucks, and the private
16 vendors' equipment. So a portion of the tolls is done by
17 the department, and the portion of the tolls is done by
18 the private towers.

19 COMMISSIONER WOODS: As it relates to the private
20 towers, how many of those do we have?

21 MR. NAZARKO: The last contract we had, we had 7
22 private towers. My understanding is that we suspended
23 one, so we should have 6 at the current time. However,
24 again, since we're talking about next year's budget for
25 the City Financial Office, Office of the Chief Financial

1 Officer, we expect to go out for bids. Those contracts
2 will land on June 30th. So between now and June, we are
3 going to go out for bids again to solicit private towers
4 to bid for that type of service.

5 COMMISSIONER WOODS: Can you tell me why they were
6 suspended?

7 MR. NAZARKO: No, I can talk about the numbers,
8 however I do not know as to why. I know that we had 7,
9 now we have 6.

10 COMMISSIONER WOODS: Okay. And as relates to, as far
11 as fairness and equity in terms of, and you probably
12 can't answer this and maybe this needs to be asked to the
13 Chief and, you know, we probably need to get a letter
14 because I know I get a lot of complaints by residents of
15 the City of Detroit in terms of some of the predatory
16 nature of some of these tow companies. I don't know if
17 they're tied to the city. I have some names that they
18 have given and things of that nature. And one thing we
19 want to do is make sure that we ensure that citizens are
20 not being exploited by some of these companies. You know,
21 and I know that has been a big bone of contention, and I
22 know all of the nuances of this towing operation
23 throughout the years, how problematic it has been, so I
24 would like to see in terms of, you know, I want to know
25 why the one company was dismissed. And secondly, I want

1 to make sure that we are ensuring that the citizens of
2 the City of Detroit are not being preyed on by some of
3 these companies.

4 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Okay. So let's memorialize
5 those requests in our records, and send those to DPD to
6 get a response. Let the record reflect that Commissioner
7 Lisa Carter has joined us. Commissioner Burton. I'm
8 sorry, Commissioner Woods.

9 COMMISSIONER WOODS: Yes. As it relates to the DDC
10 operation. So it's just totally \$3 million in
11 expenditures for that?

12 MR. NAZARKO: Commissioner, through the Chair. No,
13 the total expenditures for DDC operations are
14 approximately \$16 million.

15 COMMISSIONER WOODS: \$16 million. The \$3 million
16 reflects an increase?

17 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Correct.

18 MR. NAZARKO: Yes.

19 COMMISSIONER WOODS: Okay. Thank you.

20 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Commissioner. Burton.

21 COMMISSIONER BURTON: To the Chair. I have a lot of
22 questions and concerns about this. Number one, I don't
23 think the City of Detroit should be operating in a towing
24 business, number one. Number two, what is it really
25 costing overall for the City of Detroit to operate in a

1 towing business? And is the city making money or losing
2 money? Because we're talking about \$2.1 million that's a
3 line item in the budget for towing, but you are looking
4 at the tow lot rental, security, maintenance for the
5 truck, all of those additional costs. So we really want
6 to know how much it is really costing the City of
7 Detroit, to really operate in a towing business. Should
8 we be operating in a towing business period from a city
9 standpoint? And is the city losing money or making money?

10 MR. NAZARKO: Through the Chair, while...

11 COMMISSIONER BURTON: Because these dollars, you
12 know, in this line item right here, you know, these
13 dollars can be reallocated into mental health, social
14 justice programs or it could be reinvested back into the
15 community instead of on this report right here.

16 MR. NAZARKO: Through the Chair. If I may respond.
17 Although the operational question as to, is the city
18 cleaner or are the towing operations helping to keep the
19 city safer and cleaner is a question that belongs to the
20 DPD and the mayor's office and all those. Financially
21 speaking, I can guarantee you with 100% certainty that
22 the city is not losing money with the tow operations.
23 This, as I indicated earlier, it's called a special fund.
24 The definition of special fund is such that, aside from,
25 it does not cost taxpayers money. So it's a self-

1 sustained fund, meaning that the fees that are charged by
2 us for towing someone's vehicle are supporting that
3 activity. The police officer or the tow truck to go there
4 and pick that up. Year in, year out, the tow fund was
5 created. Tow operations start in 2018, and I've been here
6 since 2019, from the inception, the co-fund operations
7 have not requested additional funds from the city. It's a
8 self-sustaining operation. As a matter of fact, sometimes
9 the opposite is true, that few dollars have supported
10 other police operations, such as mental health and
11 whatnot, but not the other way around.

12 COMMISSIONER BURTON: And lastly, on the subject
13 matter, how many lawsuits has the City of Detroit paid
14 out due to towing?

15 MR. NAZARKO: Through the Chair, again. I am here to
16 talk about the numbers that are presented and are in
17 front of you to approve the budget request. In this
18 budget request, there is not a single dollar that these
19 are related or requested to support the legal lawsuits,
20 because that's a different department that handles that.
21 We budget for them through a different pool of funds and
22 outside of the DPDs operations.

23 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Thank you, Commissioner
24 Bernard.

25 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: Mr. Chairman, I would ask,

1 sir, that you revisit the questions that have been asked
2 and give specific answers. I'll give you two examples.
3 The first is question 5. Please provide details for the
4 department's less lethal force technology for the current
5 fiscal year and the next fiscal year, including usage
6 figures justifying the cost of the proposed budget line
7 items. Your response. We have the tasers budget at 2.5
8 million for this fiscal year. The department has
9 requested 55 million for fiscal year 25. That's not the
10 total budget for lists and lethal forces. They have those
11 ropes that go around people that restrain people. They
12 have other things. You only address the taser question,
13 we really want all the information. Let me give you one
14 more example, then I'll hush. The other one is, please
15 provide a detailed overview of the Detroit Ceasefire
16 Program for the current fiscal year and the next fiscal
17 year. Your response, the ceasefire program is now
18 administered by the Health Department. Number one. When
19 did that happen? But, okay. The police department retains
20 a ceasefire team at each precinct that includes a
21 civilian analyst, 3 to 6 officers and a sergeant. Through
22 grant funds, the police department leads the Faith-based
23 coalition, a component of ceasefire employing 1 project
24 manager, pardon me, and 2 outreach coordinators through
25 DPSF sub award. The Faith-based coalition grant expires

1 6:30 2024. That doesn't give us the numbers. We asked for
2 the numbers.

3 MR. NAZARKO: Through the Chair. May I respond to
4 that?

5 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: We have the explanation, but
6 the numbers aren't here.

7 MR. NAZARKO: The numbers are not there because
8 again, I'm presenting that \$399 million that I said there
9 includes those positions, which are different than, you
10 know, in any given time. You know today it's X police
11 officer, tomorrow it's Y police officer at different pay
12 rates. However, the fact of the matter is the grant that
13 supports the ceasefire operations was moved last year out
14 of DPD to the Health Department. Therefore, this
15 honorable Board, aside from the operations questions,
16 that is a fair question to the DPD, you know, as the
17 results of that, dollar wise, I'm here today to present
18 the dollars that we requested. We did not request any
19 dollar amounts for the ceasefire operations

20 COMMISSIONER BURTON: To the Chair.

21 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: One second.

22 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: You have a higher budget for
23 DPD, though?

24 MR. NAZARKO: Nope, we do not.

25 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: There is a zero line item.

1 MR. NAZARKO: Correct.

2 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: Is what you're saying?

3 MR. NAZARKO: Yes, ma'am.

4 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: Okay.

5 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Commissioner Banks.

6 COMMISSIONER BANKS: Through the Chair. Mr. Nazarko,
7 how you got \$2.5 million in a year's time going to
8 tasers, right? How long do the tasers last? That 2.5
9 million we are paying for tasers. How long will that
10 taser last?

11 MR. NAZARKO: Usually we budget for every 5 years for
12 replacement tasers. However, they may last a little
13 longer 6 years or 7 if we maintain them or we do some
14 maintenance work on them, but we budget as if they're
15 going to expire in 5 years, so we five years.

16 COMMISSIONER BANKS: And then you have to pay another
17 \$2.5 million for some .more.

18 MR. NAZARKO: Or whatever the going rate is at that
19 time.

20 COMMISSIONER BANKS: Got you. Okay.

21 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Commissioner Burton.

22 COMMISSIONER BURTON: To the Chair, you know,
23 question for Mr. Nazarko. You know what cities with the
24 population of Detroit that have the police and the city
25 involved in towing and has your office or the city has

1 identified the best towing model, in comparison to the
2 size of Detroit? Has anyone done the research?

3 MR. NAZARKO: Through the Chair, I do not have any
4 data on that.

5 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Thank you. Commissioner Woods.

6 COMMISSIONER WOODS: Yes. I'm very, very pleased that
7 I would hope that the city will have the towing
8 operations that some of these predators have not heard
9 about who are doing a deplorable job in taxing and
10 putting extra burden on the cities of the City of
11 Detroit. And this airway that we could be able to
12 regulate anything that is, you know, outlandish and
13 outrageous. However, you know, I stopped pontificating as
14 it relates to towing. Are we seeing any less burden with
15 the city operation of things and DPD operation of things?
16 Are we seeing less burden on the citizens of the City of
17 Detroit in terms of, you know, you say we have a good
18 surplus there and it's making money. Are there ways that
19 we can find a reduction on the people when it comes to
20 this? You know, they keep the car in the yard, you have
21 to pay this amount of money for each day, and things of
22 that nature. I'm interested in if we can find a way to
23 reduce the burden on the people of the City of Detroit.
24 That's my question

25 MR. NAZARKO: Through the Chair. As we talked about

1 earlier, this is a fairly new operation. And you
2 mentioned that there is a large surplus and those are not
3 my words. I'm saying that we are able to sustain the
4 operations with the money we collect from the fees of the
5 towing operations. However, I'm not aware. I know for a
6 fact that there is no large surplus, there are a few
7 dollars, you know, after we do. But it is always
8 impossible to come, you know, to break even, zero, zero.
9 However, to your question, we can look into that. The DPD
10 can look into that, so when that point in time comes,
11 that there's more money in the fund. Then of course, the
12 fee reduction is something that the city could take a
13 look at, at that time.

14 COMMISSIONER WOODS: Thank you, kindly.

15 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Okay. Any further questions?

16 COMMISSIONER BURTON: To the Chair.

17 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Commissioner Burton.

18 COMMISSIONER BURTON: Question for Mr. Nazarko.
19 There's \$400,000 in the budget here for ShotSpotter
20 technology for covering you know basically 6 square
21 miles. Looking at the total arrest, total guns, recovered
22 convictions, lawsuits, and the City of Detroit can
23 reinvest \$400,000 in another area that can really keep,
24 you know, help with quality life issues and keep citizens
25 safe. Because it doesn't seem like \$400,000 is a good

1 investment here, but do you see that where \$400,000 could
2 be reinvested somewhere else in the city's budget

3 MR. NAZARKO: Through the Chair. Again I am here to
4 present the fact that DPD has requested 400 additional
5 thousand dollars to support the ShotSpotter operations,
6 and earlier AC Fitzgerald answered all those questions
7 fully you know, as far as I'm concerned, but to answer
8 the Commissioner's question on the investment of quality
9 of life, there are lots of other dollars throughout the
10 city. And to be exact, a number of those were mentioned
11 when the mayor met with President Biden. \$100 million
12 from ARPA funds is going to invest in the quality of life
13 of Detroiters and the schooling and all those things that
14 come with that in Parks and recreation and all that. So,
15 DPDs budget usually is geared towards the safety and
16 safer neighborhoods and those numbers that I presented
17 here again, although overall quality of life is
18 absolutely tied to those numbers, but I cannot answer the
19 question as to what the 400 thousand dollars can do in
20 that regard.

21 COMMISSIONER BURTON: But Mr. Nazarko, we're talking
22 about the police departments, you know, line item in the
23 budget where we're talking about alerts for ShotSpotter.
24 We're talking about officers being overworked, you know,
25 trying to respond to those alerts, false alerts. Many of

1 them are false alerts. Very few guns are being recovered.
2 Very few arrests are being made. How many convictions,
3 lawsuits, civil liberties being violated right here in
4 America's blackest poor city like Detroit. Do you feel
5 that the \$400,000 additional is needed in this line item
6 in this budget, or can you find an area in the budget
7 where the \$400,000 can be reinvested to really do quality
8 work and good in this city?

9 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: You don't have to respond to
10 that. I think that question is better directed to the
11 department. And I'm sure...

12 COMMISSIONER BURTON: Sure, the department can answer
13 it too, Mr. Chairman

14 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: But let's see if Commissioner
15 Bernard wants to add to that question or you...

16 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: I want to clarify, it's not
17 \$400,000. It says in response to the question, how much
18 money is currently being spent on ShotSpotter for the
19 current fiscal year? What exactly is the budget for the
20 next fiscal year? Where is the money coming from? How
21 much money, if any, is being saved from using this
22 technology? What is the existing financial liability of
23 the department for lawsuits arising from wrongful
24 detention related to ShotSpotter systems? The answer.
25 Fiscal year 24 spending year to date is \$451,325.

1 Additional and invoices are expected later in the fiscal
2 year, '25 baseline request for 1.75 million plus 400,000
3 as a supplemental request. So it's an over \$2 million
4 project. Funding is allocated from the general fund.

5 MR. NAZARKO: That's a full response.

6 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: It's not \$500,000

7 MR. NAZARKO: Through the Chair. That's a full
8 response that I would give.

9 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: I'm sorry.

10 MR. NAZARKO: That's a full response, Madam
11 Commissioner, because we have budgeted 1.7 this year.
12 Thus far, we have spent 451,000. Between now and June, we
13 expect to pay another \$1.3 million. And then next year,
14 the budget, you're correct. We're asking for \$2.1 million
15 for the entire 33 square miles for ShotSpotter.

16 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: AC Fitzgerald, do you have
17 anything to add?

18 AC FITZGERALD: Through the Chair, if I may, and
19 we're going to give you this in writing because that's
20 what the Commissioner asked for. But in 2023, there were
21 18,065 alerts in the City of Detroit. Of those alerts,
22 there were 63,493 rounds of gunfire. Of those 18,000,
23 only 14,000, I'm sorry, 14,588, did not have a responding
24 911 call. They did not call 911 of those 18,000 gunshots.
25 ShotSpotter alerts were connected to 144 homicides and

1 nonfatal shooting reports in an RMS, 144. Of those
2 reports, 56 did not have a corresponding 911 call for
3 service ShotSpotter alerts for 2023 were connected to 693
4 firearms recovered, and 403 arrests. And again, I'm sorry
5 if you're losing sleep over 400,000, it took one gun to
6 shoot that 11-year-old girl. One. I don't know how you
7 can't fund it, but again, my humble opinion.

8 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: But the response is incorrect.
9 That's my point. None of these responses are truly
10 responsive to the questions that are...

11 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: I'm confused by how you said
12 is incorrect. You read it and he said that's exactly the
13 response he would give now. And he said, you were right
14 when you read that response.

15 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: I know, but that's the point.
16 Including less than lethal force weapons, we have more
17 than tasers. We have other things. These are one sentence
18 responses to serious questions by the commissioners.
19 They're just not responsive, sir.

20 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Duly noted. I encourage all of
21 our commissioners to be diligent. And so if you have
22 responses in the answers that were given that you find to
23 be insufficient, make sure that you communicate that. And
24 I'm sure there might be some clarification that's
25 available. But let's not mix issues here. When the

1 response you read, he said it's absolutely correct. So I
2 don't see how you can say it's not accurate. Now, if you
3 want more detail than that, again, is your right, as
4 you're seeking for due diligence. But make sure that we
5 are being appropriate in how we're, excuse me, accurate
6 in how we're communicating to the public on what we have
7 received. Thank you. Thank you. Appreciate it.

8 MR. NAZARKO: You're welcome. Thank you.

9 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Our bylaws require...

10 COMMISSIONER BURTON: Mr. Chairman.

11 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Excuse me. Yep.

12 COMMISSIONER BURTON: I still have additional
13 questions for Mr. Nazarko.

14 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Oh, I'm sorry. I thought you
15 had exhausted your questions.

16 COMMISSIONER BURTON: Oh, no, absolutely. I'm just
17 getting warmed up.

18 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Go right ahead, Commissioner
19 Burton.

20 COMMISSIONER BURTON: So you know, question Mr.
21 Nazarko, you know, the Detroit Police Department
22 participates in the 1022 program, as well as the 1033
23 program with the Department of Defense. We want to know
24 what dollars that's in the Detroit Police Department's
25 budget that's going into the Department of Defense,

1 whether it's for hand me down equipment or purchases of
2 new equipment. We would also like to know what lawsuits
3 the city has paid out pertaining to those different, you
4 know as far as military grade equipment, you know, that
5 the City of Detroit has purchased through those programs.
6 So we don't know about the lawsuits. We don't even know
7 what DPD has as far as in the inventory, what they
8 received over the years, when this equipment was
9 deployed. We know that when you had peaceful protestors
10 in the city and the police department were wearing riot
11 gear that was military equipment that was deployed on the
12 streets. That day you had innocent protests thrown to the
13 ground, shot with flashbang grenades, pepper sprayed,
14 thrown down with zip ties behind the back. And some of
15 them were actually journalists.

16 MR. NAZARKO: Through the Chair. Commissioner on a
17 lighter note. You and I have been around, you know, a
18 little longer than I know. As soon as I saw the question
19 on 1022 and 1033 programs, although they don't come with
20 commissioner's names, I assumed it was you because you
21 and I have been going back and forth on this for the last
22 5 years. And no, this was a lighter note. But to answer
23 your question, the budget that I presented to you in high
24 terms does not include a single dollar for 1022, 1033, or
25 whatever that program with the federal government is. If

1 DPD has any equipment from those programs, the last 5
2 years, we have not paid the dime. And when I say we, I've
3 been in charge of finances, we have not paid a dime if
4 they are donated or whatnot, that's a different type of
5 question that I recommend you ask. Meaning that, do we
6 have any military type of equipment? And then AC
7 Fitzgerald, I'm sure, you know will be fully capable of
8 answering that. But dollars wise, keep in mind that I'm
9 here to justify or not justify, but to give you the full
10 account on that \$399 million. There is not a single
11 dollar in their budget slated for any type of military
12 equipment.

13 COMMISSIONER BURTON: Okay? So, Detroit Police
14 Department, once again, participates in two programs,
15 1022, 1033. One program allows them to get hand-me-down
16 equipment by just calling up the Pentagon, and another
17 program with the Department of Defense allows them to
18 purchase new technology, new toys, new armored vehicles,
19 assault rifles, whatever, as far as military grade
20 equipment. Is there grant dollars that allows them to get
21 this because they have these toys? The question is what's
22 in Detroit's Police Department's inventory. When was the
23 last time any of this technology was deployed? But the
24 dollars are coming from somewhere. We just like to know
25 where the line item is in the budget.

1 MR. NAZARKO: It's not in that budget.

2 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Okay. Thank you so very much
3 for your report. Commissioner Bernard.

4 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: Just real quickly. You have on
5 your budget request, it's not a page number, it just says
6 appropriation name. It appears we have about \$7 million
7 in grants. Is that correct?

8 MR, NAZARKO: Yes, that is correct. 6.8

9 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: ATPA preventing auto theft
10 fiscal year '25, 3.8 million. What is that? I just want
11 to know.

12 MR. NAZARKO: ATPA is the Auto Theft Program.

13 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: I'm sorry? Auto Theft Program.

14 MR. NAZARKO: Auto Theft Program. Yes.

15 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: And so that money came from
16 the 3.8 million came from...

17 MR, NAZARKO: State of Michigan.

18 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: I'm sorry.

19 MR. NAZARKO: State of Michigan. The insurance
20 companies have a fund they program that goes through the
21 different municipalities. And the terms are that 50% are
22 supported by that. And the City of Detroit pays another
23 50% for the police officers that support that operation.

24 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: Okay. And the Justice
25 Assistance grant of 1.1 million, that's from the

1 Department of Justice, I assume.

2 MR. NAZARKO: Correct. Federal government.

3 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: What's that for?

4 MR. NAZARKO: I don't have the details of that, but
5 to support police operations and mainly the crimes but
6 again, it's not...

7 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: In the future, can you say
8 where the grants come from, if it's a federal grant or
9 state grant, if you don't mind?

10 MR. NAZARKO: Yes, I definitely can do that. Yes.

11 COMMISSIONER BURTON: To the question.

12 COMMISSIONER BANKS: My question.

13 COMMISSIONER BURTON: To the Chair.

14 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Commissioner Burton.

15 COMMISSIONER BURTON: Question for the Chief. When
16 was the last time the Detroit Police Department received
17 anything from the Department of Defense for its military
18 grade equipment in the 1022 program, as well as the 1033
19 program.

20 AC FITZGERALD: Through the Chair, to the best of my
21 ability, the last thing we received, I believe, was one
22 of the helicopter blades on either the 1972 helicopter we
23 have, or the 1976 helicopter.

24 COMMISSIONER BURTON: When was that?

25 AC FITZGERALD: I don't recall off the top of my

1 head. I can get the information for you though.

2 COMMISSIONER BURTON: We also like to know the
3 inventory of everything that the department received from
4 the Department of Defense, from the 1022 program, as well
5 as the 1033 program that's in your inventory, as well as
6 when that equipment was ever deployed. We, you know, from
7 an oversight standpoint, have a right to know when the
8 Detroit Police Department is participating in such
9 programs. We don't even have an idea what's in the
10 inventory when the last time any of this in this stuff
11 was ever used. We'd like to have a thorough detail of
12 every military grade equipment that's in your inventory,

13 AC FITZGERALD: Of course, and through the Chair.
14 Sir, if you can just put that in writing please because
15 you asked a lot of questions there, and if you detail it
16 we will detail it for you.

17 COMMISSIONER BURTON: And the last question for Mr.
18 Nazarko is \$6 million for the 12 precinct for
19 renovations. Can you break down the material costs? Why
20 is the renovation of \$6 million? You can buy a building
21 for a lot less than that. I mean, the doggone Pontiac
22 Silverdome sold for a half a million, you know, and we
23 talking about the Pontiac Silverdome. So why is \$6
24 million for renovations for the 12th Precinct?

25 MR. NAZARKO: Through the Chair? That is an estimate

1 of the cost after DPD, through their management services,
2 went and did an inventory as to what needs to be done and
3 whatnot. The \$6 million is just that, an estimate. It's
4 not an authorization to spend that money. If we were to
5 do that, if the city gives DPD \$6 million to renovate the
6 12th Precinct is going to go through the all hoops and
7 motions to that every single dollar goes, through
8 approvals, through contracts, through bidding, through
9 Detroit contracts, all that. So the detail is there on
10 the slide I wrote there, what needs to be done, but more
11 details, DPD, again, through the written responses, we
12 can supply that as to what we estimate to cost \$6
13 million.

14 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Thank you. And I'm going to
15 ask any further questions to be put in writing, and then
16 you can get those formal responses either from the CFO or
17 DPD.

18 COMMISSIONER BANKS: Can I ask a quick one, Mr.
19 Chair?

20 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Quickly.

21 COMMISSIONER BANKS: Very quick. Where's the budget
22 now? Are we at about \$600 million, DPD 600, somewhere in
23 there?

24 MR. NAZARKO: No. DPD all funds I should say is
25 around \$440 million, all funds, not just general fund.

1 COMMISSIONER BANKS: 440?

2 MR. NAZARKO: 440. Yes.

3 COMMISSIONER BANKS: I'm set Mr. Chair.

4 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Thank you.

5 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: A total city budget?

6 MR. NAZARKO: The total city budget is close to \$2
7 billion.

8 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: I'm sorry,

9 MR. NAZARKO: \$2 billion, period.

10 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: Okay.

11 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Commissioner Bernard, you have
12 not been recognized again. Make sure you put those
13 questions in writing, and I'm sure you'll get your
14 response. Our bylaws require, well, it encourages us to
15 give an hour. Thank you for the report. Our bylaws have
16 an hour for public comment, and there were some
17 commenters that got in before the 4 o'clock hour. And so
18 we want to take this time to allow them to speak. So who
19 do we have?

20 MS. UNDERWOOD: Mr. Chair. Mr. Scotty Bowman. He
21 signed on before that hour.

22 Okay. Mr. Bowman, are you there?

23 MR. BOWMAN: Yes. Can you hear me?

24 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Yes, go right ahead.

25 MR. BOWMAN: Yeah, first of all, I wanted to commend

1 Commissioner Burton on his very thorough questions
2 regarding the city budget. I think there are lots of pork
3 in there, and there are lots of things that could be
4 trimmed, and it's kind of hard to say where to begin, but
5 when I heard about like just now, something about the \$6
6 million toward renovating one of the training centers, I
7 remember something on that order of a budget for
8 renovating it a couple years ago. It just seems like
9 there is this money that constantly needs to be spent on
10 things that is a very large amount of money that when
11 wouldn't expect to be purely maintenance funds, but
12 actual construction funds like he was stating. But it
13 seems like these things keep coming back in a perennial
14 fashion, and it just seems way accessible.

15 And as far as towing, I don't see why that can't be
16 outsourced. And if there is abuse, then, then there needs
17 to be, you know, apply the oversight powers of the police
18 commission to see that there isn't abuse. And I do know
19 there has been abuse in the past with private tour, but
20 at least they can be overseen and called to task by the
21 city government. If the city government, on the other
22 hand, is doing the same kind of shenanigans to private
23 businesses, there's no oversight on that. Now you got the
24 Fox watching the chicken coop, so to speak. So, you know,
25 we can't have that. And that's something that concerns me

1 also. Now finally one thing unrelated to the budget that
2 I just felt like commenting on again, and, you know, I
3 commented on this before, but I really think the Detroit
4 Police Department needs to take missing person cases
5 seriously. And when people like Ashley Smith go reporting
6 her missing sister Shelby to the police that they
7 actually carry out the investigation and accept the
8 report and at least put out, you know, just a call out
9 that she is a missing person. Thank you.

10 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Thank you. Is that the only
11 comment? Alright, thank you so very much. And now we'll
12 now move on to new business, having already done the
13 Board Secretary's incoming communication and
14 announcements. And so we'll begin with the Policy
15 Committee Report by the Chair of the Policy Committee,
16 Commissioner Bernard.

17 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. On
18 behalf of the Board of Police Commissioners Policy
19 Committee, our updates are as follows, regarding the
20 meeting held on February 20th, a couple of days ago here
21 at Police headquarters. The Board attendees were myself,
22 Darryl Woods and Commissioner Burton. The community other
23 members that were present, including Acting Secretary
24 Robert Brown, Jasmine Taylor, and our guest speakers
25 included Commander Ian Sweeney from, I know I

1 mispronounced that I apologize. He's from Major Crimes.
2 We had Marvin Jones, the Executive Manager of Crime
3 Intelligence, which is Project Green Light. We had
4 Attorney Eric Williams from the Justice Center, Detroit,
5 and Mr. Kenneth Nixon, the President of the Organization
6 of Exonerees. The special guest, Attorney Eric Williams'
7 presentation was on Project Green Light, and he
8 represents the Justice Center in Detroit. Attorney Eric
9 Williams reviewed and discussed concerns on Project
10 Greenlight. Please refer to the city's website to view
11 the PowerPoint presentation on that. Commander, Ian
12 Sweeney and Marvin Jones addressed some concerns
13 regarding the meeting and provided clarification on
14 Project Green Light.

15 Marvin Jones reported that he will take all of the
16 questions and suggestions developed during the policy
17 Committee meeting to the Chief of Police to provide
18 additional clarification. Attorney Williams agreed to
19 continue to work with the committee on the improvements
20 and evaluation of Project Green Light. There hasn't been
21 one since it's been here since it was started by our
22 former chief regarding the policy 203.11 eyewitness
23 identification and lineups. There was a robust discussion
24 really led by Mr. Kenneth Nixon. Mr. Nixon reviewed all
25 of the recommendations and the current policy that we're

1 getting ready to bring to the Board. I've asked him to
2 redline that policy and give us his specific feedback on
3 various provisions of that, and I'll bring those back to
4 the board. He has agreed to work with the Committee in
5 the future to assist with the improvements of the
6 language in the policy.

7 It's important to note that he represents not only
8 the Innocence Project here in Detroit, but he's on the
9 Statewide Innocence Project Board, as well as the
10 National Board. So this is a very, very educated, if you
11 will, proficient person regarding these issues concerning
12 eyewitness identification, since most of the convictions
13 that are overturned are related to faulty eyewitness
14 identification. I will say, Mr. Chair, that one of his
15 primary concerns is that we train all officers on
16 eyewitness identification, since that's the biggest area
17 where people are wrongfully convicted. There's a BOPC
18 resolution for Detroit Leadership and Community Success
19 regarding President Obama's goals for 21st century
20 community policing. Mr. Teresa Blossom was scheduled to
21 make that presentation, but because we had two guest
22 speakers, two very prominent guest speakers as well as
23 the department representatives, we didn't get to that.
24 But we'll get to it at the next meeting. And we'll also
25 have at that meeting the driver's license plate reader's

1 policy, a draft of that, as well as a review of the
2 bylaws. I've started that, but I haven't done anything.
3 I've started, but I haven't finished it. Finally, the
4 next policy meeting will be March 5th at 5:00 PM in this
5 room. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thank

6 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Thank you. Any questions for
7 the Policy Committee? Commissioner Banks.

8 COMMISSIONER BANKS: Through the Chair. I just want
9 to say, I watched your committee yesterday on zoom, me
10 and my wife.

11 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: Thank you.

12 COMMISSIONER BANKS: And you chaired a very good
13 committee. You had a large crowd there. The crowd was
14 very zealous. And we enjoyed it. We watched it, the whole
15 two hours, man, or however long it lasted.

16 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Are there any questions, or
17 comments for the Policy Committee Report? Hearing none,
18 we thank you. Commissioner Woods.

19 COMMISSIONER WOODS: Yes. If I may, you know, just to
20 address the fact that, you know, we hear sometimes that
21 we're not doing our due diligence and that we're not
22 listening to the right people. But when you have the
23 likes of the Detroit Justice Center attorney in there who
24 was in our meeting last week and had a full opportunity
25 to have a robust discussion with members of the

1 department, I thought that was phenomenal. And as well as
2 to be able to have someone who was exonerated, who did 16
3 years in prison, or wrongfully. I heard references about
4 the 10,000,000 lawsuit and things of that nature. I
5 personally was in that trial, sat in that trial as a
6 trial watcher, you know, and heard the different nuances
7 in that particular case so that we do have a sensitivity
8 to make sure that we protect the citizens of the City of
9 Detroit. And so it was a great, robust conversation, and
10 the policy is being developed to ensure that people do
11 not get wrongfully incarcerated.

12 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Thank you. Commissioner
13 Bernard.

14 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: Deputy Chief Fitzgerald,
15 please convey to the Chief our gratitude for him allowing
16 those two gentlemen to participate and I look forward to
17 their participation in the future. Generally, Deputy
18 Chief Haynes is part of our meeting as well, so I want to
19 keep this going. Thank you.

20 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Okay. And so now the Chair
21 entertains a motion that we enter into close session
22 pursuant to Section 8(a) of the Open Meetings Act, MCL
23 15, excuse me, MCL 15.268 (f). The department's request
24 for the Board to consider administrative leave without
25 pay, but with medical benefits for Police Officer John

1 Criswell, Badge number 2871, assigned to the 7th
2 Precinct.

3 COMMISSIONER WOODS: So move.

4 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Is there a second?

5 COMMISSIONER: Second.

6 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: It's been properly moved and
7 second. Any discussion? Hearing no discussion, all those
8 in favor, please signify by saying, Aye.

9 COMMISSIONERS: Aye.

10 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: All those opposed, no. The
11 ayes have it. That motion passes. We now have a 5 minute
12 recess to set the room up for a closed session. We ask
13 that all exit the room who are not designated to be in
14 closed session. Thank you. We are now back in session. We
15 call open session back into order. We will have a roll
16 call by Mr. Brown,

17 MR. BROWN: Chairperson Pressley - Here.

18 MR. BROWN: Vice Chairperson, Bell - Present.

19 MR. BROWN: Commissioner Smith - Present.

20 MR. BROWN: Commissioner Bernard - Present.

21 MR. BROWN: Commissioner Banks -

22 MR. BROWN: Commissioner Burton - Present.

23 MR. BROWN: Commissioner Carter - Present.

24 MR. BROWN: Commissioner Woods - Present.

25 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Alright, we do indeed have a

1 quorum. Is there a motion?

2 COMMISSIONER WOODS: I make a motion to accept the
3 recommendations by Chief White on Officer Criswell.

4 VICE CHAIRPERSON BELL: I second.

5 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: It's probably been moved and
6 second to accept the Chief's recommendation to place
7 Police Officer, John Criswell, Badge number 2871, on
8 administrative leave without pay, but with medical
9 benefits. Is there any discussion?

10 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: Yes.

11 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Commissioner Bernard, being
12 mindful of what can be shared in open session.

13 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: I understand. My, if you will,
14 objection to the recommendation is simply what I've said
15 before many, many times, is that first of all, when an
16 officer has not been convicted of anything, despite what
17 the gentleman from the Chief's Office stated that taking
18 their pay is not a punishment.

19 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: I'm just going to say that
20 this is becoming very concerning about... You just said
21 what somebody said. So again, just try to make it...

22 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: The recommendation is that he
23 be suspended without pay.

24 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: I do hear that.

25 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: My comments are related to the

1 suspension without pay. That is prior to there being any
2 finding by courts or anyone else of any legal infraction
3 that could be perceived as a felony. But my real
4 objection...

5 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: I think you're sharing
6 information that is not public knowledge, Commissioner
7 Bernard.

8 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: I'm not.

9 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: You are. There is nowhere in
10 there that there was any discussion about a felony. And
11 so your disclosure of that is to share something that was
12 shared in a closed session that is not a matter of public
13 record.

14 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: Alright, then I apologize for
15 that aspect. But my concern is that when we take a
16 person's pay, as I've said many times, you sometimes
17 force them into criminal activity. But beyond that, prior
18 to there being any finding of any wrongdoing, we have
19 3000 or more positions. We can find desk jobs, all kinds
20 of jobs for people so that their income is not
21 interrupted, their family is not hurt by this until such
22 time as there's been a finding. And my real comment about
23 it, Mr. Chairman, is that if City Council people, mayors,
24 everybody, they can be indicted formally by the federal
25 government, they continue their pay until such time as

1 there's been a finding of guilt of whatever the offense
2 might be, then I don't think it's fair to have a
3 different standard for officers who are way down on the
4 pay scale compared to elected officials, and that's my
5 real concern. And the real reason for that is that they
6 don't have, say with medical benefits, but the copay on
7 your medical insurance is about 150 a month or more than
8 \$100 a month. How do you even pay the copay if you don't
9 have any income? So I just think it's fundamentally
10 unfair to do that prior to there being any legal findings
11 of any kind of wrongdoing.

12 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Let the record reflect that
13 Commissioner Banks has joined us. Is there any further
14 discussion on the motion? Vice Chair Bell?

15 VICE CHAIR BELL: Mr. Chairman, as you well know, the
16 charter is clear. We have this charge to suspend without
17 pay. And prior to that, we're adding without medical
18 benefits, there was no issue with that. You suspended
19 without pay. It's as simple as that. We're based on the
20 facts and our charter mandates our responsibility. It's
21 clear we are not the council, we are not any other any
22 other board, we are the Board of Police Commissioners.

23 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: The charter does not say
24 anything about suspension

25 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: You have been recognized,

1 Commissioner Bernard. Commissioner Woods.

2 COMMISSIONER WOODS: I would just say that we are
3 charged to be able to represent the people of the City of
4 Detroit and our constituents, and that we should do any
5 and everything that we can to be able to protect the
6 citizens of the City of Detroit. And I'll just leave it
7 like that.

8 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Thank you. Is there any
9 further discussion? Alright, hearing none again, this
10 requires a two third majority vote. And so, Mr. Brown,
11 roll call please. And again, the motion is to accept the
12 Chief's recommendation to place Officer John Criswell on
13 administrative leave without pay but with medical
14 benefits.

15 MR. BROWN: Chairperson Pressley - Yes.

16 MR. BROWN: Vice Chairperson Bell - Yes.

17 MR. BROWN: Commissioner Smith - Yes.

18 MR. BROWN: Commissioner Bernard - No. For the reason
19 stated.

20 MR. BROWN: Commissioner Banks - Yes.

21 MR. BROWN: Commissioner Burton - Yes.

22 MR. BROWN: Commissioner Carter - Yes.

23 MR. BROWN: Commissioner Woods - Yes.

24 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: 7 yes votes, 1 no vote. That
25 motion passes. Is there any other motion under new

1 business?

2 COMMISSIONER BURTON: Through the Chair, I'd like the
3 call for adjournment.

4 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Adjournment is called. Is
5 there a second?

6 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: Second.

7 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: It's been properly moved and
8 second. Is there discussion?

9 COMMISSIONER CARTER: I had a couple of motions.

10 COMMISSIONER BURTON: It's already been called, and
11 seconded, Mr. Chairman.

12 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: In my opining that until the
13 vote has been had any motion that is yet to be done can
14 be had. Commissioner Carter.

15 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Thank you Mr. Chair. I have two
16 motions. The first motion is, I'm going to have
17 resolutions prepared by staff for the Commissioners,
18 Annie Holt and Commissioner Reverend Dr. Holley.

19 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: Second.

20 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: It's been properly moved and
21 second. Is there any discussion?

22 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Mr. Chair, this is not an easy
23 job. And I think that we should recognize people who've
24 spent their time on the Board and commemorate them with
25 that honor.

1 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Any further discussion?

2 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: I agree.

3 COMMISSIONER BURTON: To the Chair.

4 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Commissioner Burton.

5 COMMISSIONER BURTON: You know, I'd like to amend
6 Commissioner Carter's motion. I'd like it if we can
7 recognize all of those you know that served on the Board
8 of Police Commissioners as commissioners in the past 50
9 years. You know, you have a lot of men and women that
10 served in these seats where we are today. And some of
11 them have not received resolutions or credentials. And
12 it'll be a good opportunity for all of them to be
13 recognized, unifying, you know, together as we celebrate
14 the 50 year anniversary of police oversight here in
15 America.

16 COMMISSIONER BANKS: I'll second that. I think that's
17 only fair not to show favoritism. You had some great
18 people on this Board.

19 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: There's been an amendment to
20 the motion to have the staff to write resolutions for all
21 former commissioners in the last 50 years. And it has
22 been seconded. Is there any amendment?

23 COMMISSIONER BURTON: You also had former
24 commissioner/attorney Sharon Bernard, you know, who
25 served honorably on this Board and was appointed by Mayor

1 Coleman Young. I mean, you talking about a warrior when
2 it comes to you know her ability to think and to organize
3 and to delegate.

4 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: It would be included in the
5 current motion. Any further discussion with the
6 amendment?

7 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: Just briefly, I think...

8 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Excuse me. Speak through the
9 Chair. Wait to be recognized. Commissioner Carter.

10 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: I'm sorry.

11 COMMISSIONER CARTER: I think that the appropriate
12 time to recognize people for the 50 years is sometime
13 during the summer when we normally recognize our years of
14 service on the Board and people who have been on the
15 Board. I think that this is different from that because
16 this is just simply honoring people who just left the
17 Board and just to make sure that they receive the
18 recognition that they

19 CHAIRPERSON BERNARD: Commissioner Bernard.

20 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: Just quickly. I agree with
21 Commissioner Carter and Commissioner Burton. Commissioner
22 Burton, I think that that recognition event should be
23 something we should plan. It should be a real event
24 because it's a half century, it's a milestone event. So I
25 think we need a different type of celebration for that.

1 But I absolutely concur with the resolutions for Jim
2 Holley, and obviously for Commissioner Holt.

3 COMMISSIONER BURTON: And also through the Chair.

4 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Commissioner Burton.

5 COMMISSIONER BURTON: We don't know, and maybe our
6 Acting Secretary can look into this for us as Board
7 members. We don't know which Board members over the past
8 50 years of police oversight receive resolutions and
9 things of that nature. And at some point in time, they
10 probably, you know, didn't get a resolution, or they did.
11 But we do know when it comes to commissioners that did
12 not get retirement credentials would be Commissioner
13 William Davis, who served honorably on this Board,
14 Commissioner Darryl Brown, who also served honorably on
15 this Board. I mean, we had so many wonderful people that
16 served, including Sharon McPhail, who also served
17 honorably on this Board, along with Sharon Bernard,
18 honorable Sharon Bernard who was a trailblazer. And I
19 think when it comes to police oversight, she only had two
20 women that happened to be sisters to serve in a police
21 oversight capacity. And that would be Commissioner Linda
22 Bernard, along with her sister, Sharon Bernard.

23 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: So, is there any further
24 discussion on the amendment to the motion, which is to
25 have the staff to write resolutions for all former

1 commissioners in the last 50 years? Commissioner Woods?

2 COMMISSIONER WOODS: Yeah.

3 COMMISSIONER BURTON: That did not receive one.

4 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: That did not receive one.

5 Commissioner Woods.

6 COMMISSIONER WOODS: Yes. If it's with the caveat
7 that we do this at a later time and do it in a way that
8 it could be properly done.

9 COMMISSIONER BANKS: That'd be good at a later time.
10 I agree with that.

11 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Again, the amendment on the
12 floor to the initial motion is that the staff writes
13 resolutions for all former commissioners of the last 50
14 years who have not received resolutions. Vice Chair Bell.

15 VICE CHAIR BELL: Mr. Chairman, I think Ms. Blossom
16 could speak to our... When we hosted NACOLE, we recognized
17 and honored all past commissioners in that framework. And
18 we don't know what transpired in the past, but I know on
19 that anniversary... Ms. Blossom, could you come through the
20 mic please? How we went through the whole

21 COMMISSIONER BURTON: Point of order, Mr. Chair,
22 point of order. Commissioner Bell, you do have to
23 communicate that to the Chairperson so he can introduce a
24 staff member to the mic. No disrespect, but my apologies.

25 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Go right ahead. Ms. Blossom.

1 MS. BLOSSOM: Through the Chair, Theresa Blossom
2 Police Community Relations Coordinator I certainly cannot
3 speak to what happened with the Board prior to my arrival
4 in 2017, but certainly since 2017, every year we try to
5 celebrate the anniversary of the Board and all the
6 Veteran service done by the appointed commissioners prior
7 to 2012 and the elected Since then, every July, which is
8 the anniversary date of the first meeting of the Board of
9 Police Commissioners, we did have a special recognition
10 in two 2019 when we hosted NACOLE, and it was the 45th
11 anniversary of the Board of Police Commissioners. And we
12 certainly had planned to do it this year in 20 24 for the
13 50th. And in fact, I think you saw the ad circulated last
14 week as a draft, making a special point of showing the
15 community, not just the 2024 Board, but also the fact
16 that this is an 50th anniversary year. Traditionally the
17 meeting in July has been the 10th Precinct meeting, which
18 has a special historical significance because the 10th
19 Precinct was the home of the Civil Rebellion in 1967. And
20 that was the impetus for so much revision, including the
21 1974 charter that gave birth to the Board of Police
22 Commissioners.

23 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Thank you for that context.
24 Again, the motion on the floor is the amendment to the
25 motion that the staff drafts resolutions for all former

1 commissioners who had for the last 50 years, who have not
2 received resolutions. Is there any further discussion on
3 that amendment? Hearing none. All those in favor of the
4 amendment? So we're just voting on that amendment, and
5 then we will vote on the motion. Okay. So if you don't
6 want this amendment, but you do want that motion for
7 Holley and Holt, that will come after this vote. I hope
8 that was clear. Okay. So all those in favor of the
9 amendment, which is to have the staff write resolutions
10 for all former commissioners in the last 50 years who
11 have not received resolutions, please signify by saying,
12 Aye.

13 COMMISSIONERS: Aye.

14 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: All those opposed, no. The nos
15 have it present. Alright, so now that motion...

16 COMMISSIONER BURTON: I called for a record roll call
17 vote. Mr. Chairman.

18 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Roll call has been called. Mr.
19 Brown.

20 COMMISSIONER BURTON: And for the record, Mr.
21 Chairman, you know, we haven't always had...

22 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Roll call has been called. Mr.
23 Brown.

24 MR. BROWN: Chairperson Pressley - No.

25 MR. BROWN: Vice Chairperson Bell - No.

1 MR. BROWN: Commissioner Smith - No.

2 MR. BROWN: Commissioner Bernard - Yes for
3 presentation in July.

4 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: That is not the motion.

5 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: No, but that's the point.

6 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: So what is your vote on the
7 motion?

8 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: Yes, because they'll be given
9 out in July. We didn't say a date they had to go out.

10 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: The motion has nothing to do
11 with the date. The motion is to have the staff write
12 resolutions for the last...

13 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: Okay, fine.

14 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Thank you.

15 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: Give them out then.

16 MR. BROWN: Commissioner Banks - Yes.

17 MR. BROWN: Commissioner Burden -Yes. So they can go
18 out for July, yes.

19 MR. BROWN: Commissioner Carter - No.

20 MR. BROWN: Commissioner Woods - No.

21 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Alright. So that motion fails.
22 Now we're back to the original, original motion, which is
23 to have the staff to write resolutions for former
24 Commissioners, Holt and Holley. Is there any further
25 discussion on that motion? Hearing none. All those in

1 favor please signify by saying, Aye.

2 COMMISSIONERS: Aye.

3 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: All those opposed, no?

4 Alright. The ayes have it. That motion passes.

5 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Mr. Chair, through the Chair.

6 COMMISSIONER BURTON: Mr. Chair, I'd like to make a
7 motion.

8 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: I recognize Commissioner
9 Carter.

10 COMMISSIONER BURTON: Sure, no problem.

11 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Thank you, Mr. Chair. The
12 second motion is for the approval of the DPD fiscal year
13 2000, I mean, fiscal year '25 budget request.

14 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Is there a second?

15 COMMISSIONER: Second.

16 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: It's been properly moved, and
17 second.

18 COMMISSIONER BURTON: I'd like to amend the motion,
19 Chairman.

20 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: It has been prod moved and
21 second that we approve the DPDs budget for fiscal year
22 '25. Is there any discussion? Now you can go Commissioner
23 Burton?

24 COMMISSIONER BURTON: Yes, Mr. Mr. Chairman. Thank
25 you for recognizing District 5 here. There have been

1 inquiries about DPDs budget for strengths and weaknesses.
2 DPD has not been able to provide that at this time, nor
3 has Mr. Nazarko finished answering all of the Board's
4 questions. So questions were submitted to Mr. Nazarko in
5 writing by the Board. And then there are some follow up
6 questions later. It would've been nice if the department
7 as well as Mr. Nazarko could have submitted the budget to
8 the Board as of December. It would've given the Board
9 plenty of time for preparing questions, but also having
10 these conversations. When we're talking about budgets, I
11 mean, we really have to look at the strengths and
12 weaknesses. You know and there are so many line items, we
13 need to go through and analyze each line item.

14

15 When there is something that's in the budget like \$6
16 million for renovation of the 12th Precinct, it becomes
17 alarming because the Pontiac SilverDome sold for roughly
18 a half a million dollars. You can buy a new building for,
19 you know, and how many new buildings for \$6 million.
20 There's nothing in the budget that talks about cost of
21 material. You know, and so I have concerns. I have
22 concerns about the towing line item within the budget as
23 well. And those are just a few of my concerns, but those
24 are just a few of the Board's concerns. I mean, there are
25 more concerns that we still have. And so therefore, I

1 like to know that these are still questions out there.

2 Mr. Nazarko didn't answer all of our questions today. But
3 we do plan to have them come back by next week to answer
4 our questions throughout this coming week. And so I like
5 to review those questions. I mean, the answers from those
6 questions when they come in. And so I'd like to call for
7 an amendment of this motion right here to table this
8 until next week. That will give us plenty of time to
9 review...

10 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Point of order. That's not an
11 amended motion. That's a different motion.

12 COMMISSIONER BURTON: Okay. I'd like to call the
13 table.

14 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Is there a second?

15 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: I'll second it.

16 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Wait. Point of order. A table
17 can only happen if there's an urgent matter that doesn't
18 allow us to handle the business now. There isn't anything
19 urgent that stops us from handling the business now. You
20 can vote it down.

21 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: No.

22 COMMISSIONER BURTON: Yes, there is.

23 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: You can vote it down and then
24 bring it back next week. But the motion to table is if
25 there is an emergency situation that didn't allow us to

1 finish our business. So that motion is out of order. Is
2 there any further discussion on the motion? Commissioner
3 Bernard.

4 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: Just let me respond very
5 quickly. Mr. Chair, you invited us during Mr. Nazarko's

6 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Nazarko.

7 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: Presentation to submit our
8 additional questions in writing so that they could
9 respond to them. He left the room with the clear
10 understanding that the budget was not approved and that
11 there would be additional information that his office
12 would have to provide, and you invited us to do that. So
13 I think that the motion is untimely. I mean, there is no
14 urgency that means that we have to do this today. And as
15 Commissioner Burton said, most of these answers are not
16 even thorough. That's obvious.

17 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: The Chair has made no decision
18 one way or another. I'm responsive to motions that are
19 made by this body. There has been a motion that is made
20 and seconded. And so I'm just moving forward based on
21 Robert's Rules of order. Any further discussion on the
22 motion? Hearing none. All those in favor of, again, the
23 motion is to approve DPDs budget for fiscal year '25.

24 COMMISSIONER BURTON: I'd like to amend that motion.
25 Mr. Chairman, at this time.

1 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: What is your amendment?

2 COMMISSIONER BURTON: I like to call for a motion to
3 postpone the next meeting.

4 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: The motion is not recognized.

5 COMMISSIONER BURTON: To postpone.

6 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: The motion is not recognized.

7 Any further discussion? Hearing no further discussion...

8 COMMISSIONER BURTON: For discussion, Mr. Chairman.

9 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: For discussion, please,
10 Commissioner Burton.

11 COMMISSIONER BURTON: Mr. Chairman? You know what,
12 Mr. Chairman, I'd like it if we can bring our fiscal
13 manager to the podium to ask whether or whether or not
14 all of the Board's questions that were submitted in
15 writing, were they answered by Mr. Nazarko, as well as
16 are there any other communications that we are looking to
17 get from Mr. Nazarko this week? I think it is very
18 important that we know that before we vote on this line
19 item now.

20 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: I think that it is clear
21 without his communication that there is still some
22 unreadiness by some commissioners around the budget. That
23 is clear. It has been stated by at least two
24 commissioners at this table that there are still
25 outstanding questions that you would desire to be

1 answered. And that doesn't require...

2 COMMISSIONER BURTON: But through the Chair, we
3 followed protocol and the protocol was for us to submit
4 questions in writing. Board members have done that but if
5 the questions have not been answered correctly or
6 accurately or sufficiently, which is from Mr. Nazarko,
7 and there are still continual questions out there, then
8 we need to know the answers to those questions before we
9 can move forward today. Therefore, we should not rubber
10 stamp today's budget if there are still questions out
11 there that need to be answered. Mr. Nazarko was here.

12 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Commissioner Burton: I don't
13 want you to -

14 COMMISSIONER BURTON: And he cannot answer all of our
15 questions. That means that the conversation is going to
16 continue to go on. But the thing about it, the real
17 question we need to look at is why the department or Mr.
18 Nazarko didn't bring the budget to us sooner. But since
19 we have submitted questions and our questions haven't
20 been answered today, why do we have to vote on this
21 today?

22 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Commissioner Burton, I don't
23 want you to feel as if I'm disenfranchising or taking
24 away your agency. You still have the opportunity to vote,
25 no in approving it. And if it fails, then it can come

1 back next week. That's clear as day. Yes, Commissioner
2 Carter.

3 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Call for the question.

4 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: The question's been called. Is
5 there a second?

6 VICE CHAIR BELL: Second.

7 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: It's been properly moved and
8 second. All those in favor of the question please signify
9 by saying, Aye.

10 COMMISSIONERS: Aye.

11 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: All those opposed, no.

12 COMMISSIONER BURTON: I'm going to call for roll call
13 vote on...

14 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: The question has been called
15 and it has passed. Now we have the vote on approving the
16 DPD's budget for fiscal year '25. Roll call please, Mr.
17 Brown.

18 MR. BROWN: Chairperson Pressley- Yes.

19 MR. BROWN: Vice Chairperson Bell - Yes.

20 MR. BROWN: Commissioner Smith - Yes.

21 MR. BROWN: Commissioner Bernard - No.

22 MR. BROWN: Commissioner Banks - Yes.

23 MR. BROWN: Commissioner Burton - No. This, right
24 here.

25 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Next person. Mr. Brown.

1 MR. BROWN: Commissioner Carter - Yes.

2 COMMISSIONER BURTON: No, because this is

3 unconstitutional.

4 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Did she say yes?

5 MR. BROWN: Commissioner Woods - Yes.

6 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: Right. 6 yes votes, 2 no

7 votes. That motion passes.

8 VICE CHAIRPERSON: Move to adjourn.

9 COMMISSIONER BURTON: You all just rubber stamp the
10 doggone budget. This year like all those, every year.

11 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: All those in favor, please
12 signify by saying, Aye.

13 COMMISSIONERS: Aye.

14 COMMISSIONER BERNARD: You all should be ashamed of
15 yourself.

16 CHAIRPERSON PRESSLEY: All those oppose, no? The
17 motion passes. This meeting is adjourned. Thank you.

18

19

20 (Meeting Adjourned at 5:55pm)

21

22

23

24

25

1

2 STATE OF MICHIGAN)

3)

4 COUNTY OF WAYNE)

5

6 RECORDER'S CERTIFICATE AND NOTARIZATION

7

8 I, Donald Handyside, Court Recorder, do
9 hereby certify that on February 22, 2024 at
10 3:00p.m., I did record the Detroit BOPC meeting, the
11 same being later reduced to typewriting and that the
12 foregoing is a true and accurate transcription of
13 said electronic recording taken at such time and
14 place.

15 I further certify that I am not related to
16 or employed by any party of this cause or their
17 respective counsel.

18

19



20

DONALD HANDYSIDE (CER 1464)

21

Notary Public

22

My Commission Expires: 5/6/2027

23

24

25

\$	-	
	1	15.268 79:23
\$1.2 46:17 50:12 51:17	-yes 92:17	150 83:7
\$1.3 64:13		15th 7:14 8:3,7
\$1.5 47:22		16 79:2
\$10 5:16	1 50:24 57:23 84:24	16th 17:23 18:9
\$100 45:23 62:11 83:8	1.1 69:25	17-year-old 17:24
\$102 45:22	1.2 51:14	18,000 64:22,24
\$16 54:14,15	1.7 64:11	18,065 64:21
\$2 64:3 73:6,9	1.75 64:2	1800speakup 18:20
\$2.1 55:2 64:14	10% 16:12	18th 43:20
\$2.4 45:5	10,000,000 79:4	19% 16:7
\$2.5 59:7,17	100% 55:21	1964 35:20
\$3 45:4 47:3,13 54:10,15	1022 66:22 67:19,24 68:15 70:18 71:4	1967 90:19
\$3.2 51:6 52:4	1033 66:22 67:19,24 68:15 70:18 71:5	1972 70:22
\$3.5 44:25	10th 3:23 10:16,22 90:17,18	1974 90:21
\$300 33:19	11 45:4	1976 70:23
\$399 46:15 58:8 68:10	11- 17:5	1993 9:11
\$400,000 20:8 29:15 61:19,23, 25 62:1 63:5,7,17	11-year-old 17:20 65:6	1994 9:15
\$440 72:25	11.5 44:17	1998 9:15
\$451,325 63:25	11:14 18:22	1:34 17:23
\$500,000 64:6	11th 10:1 25:3	1st 36:4,9 42:5
\$6 47:17 71:18,20,23 72:3,5, 12 74:5 94:15,19	12 71:18	2
\$6.8 46:18	12th 11:4,5 47:18 71:24 72:6 94:16	2 6:23 40:19 57:24 100:6
\$600 72:22	13,000 18:23	2.5 57:7 59:8
\$600,000 45:6	13th 9:13	2/15/2024 4:13
\$7 69:6	14 45:3	2/19/2024 4:12
\$8.4 46:4,16	14,000 64:23	20 90:12
\$84 46:3	14,588 64:23	20,000 18:10
	144 64:25 65:1	2000 5:12 93:13
	14th 3:23	2001 10:5
(f) 79:23	15 49:15 79:23	2012 90:7
		2013 10:18
		2017 90:4

2018 56:5
2019 41:20 56:6 90:10
2020 11:3
2022 44:19
2023 27:20 64:20 65:3
2024 4:1 7:11 8:3,7 11:8 44:15
48:18 58:1 90:15
2025 42:4,6 44:14 46:1 48:18
203.11 76:22
20th 17:3 18:22 19:7 75:20
21st 77:19
22nd 7:11 9:11
23rd 11:8
24 63:25 90:12
24th 27:20
25 45:3,19 46:23 48:19 57:9
64:2 69:10 93:13,22 96:23
99:16
27th 4:2 43:22
2871 80:1 81:7
29th 3:20
2nd 10:16 33:3

3

3 11:9 23:3 49:25 51:24 57:21
3.5 50:23
3.8 69:10,16
30 16:7
30- 20:1
3000 82:19
30th 42:6 43:16 44:3,6 49:2,6
53:2
31 11:19 12:22
31% 16:8
31st 49:7

33 64:15
3350 3:25
35% 16:9
38 20:1
3:00 2:2 3:20

4

4 42:8 73:17
400 62:4,19
400,000 64:2 65:5
403 65:4
42238 3:25
4234 23:3
440 73:1,2
451,000 64:12
45th 90:10
4:12 17:3
4th 10:5,16 19:8,9

5

5 57:3 59:11,15 67:22 68:1
80:11 93:25
50 86:8,14,21 87:12 88:8 89:1,
13 91:1,10
50% 16:11 69:21,23
50th 90:13,16
55 57:9
56 65:2
5:00 4:3,4 19:15 78:4
5:55pm 100:20
5th 4:3 78:4

6

6 5:18 16:6 29:15 33:20 34:14
35:20 52:23 53:9 57:21 59:13

61:20 100:6
6,000 17:4
6.8 69:8
600 72:22
63,493 64:22
693 65:3
6:30 3:23 58:1
6:58 18:10

7

7 40:19 52:21 53:8 59:13
84:24
7,500 45:15
73 31:19
7:00 19:14
7th 10:18 43:25 44:2 80:1

8

8 50:18
8(a) 79:22

9

9 19:1 20:19 21:25 50:11,18
90% 22:23
911 46:16 64:24 65:2
9th 10:22 11:3 27:12

A

abdomen 27:9
ability 70:21 87:2
absence 2:17
absent 7:6,7
absolute 37:11
absolutely 15:2 51:15 62:18
66:1,16 88:1

abuse 74:16,18,19

AC 15:23,25 20:16 21:7,19
22:13,21,24 23:5 24:4,7,25
25:1,5,9,20,22,24 26:3,9,14,
18 28:6,11,18 29:2 35:25 36:2
37:7,19 38:5 47:8 62:6 64:16,
18 68:6 70:20,25 71:13

academy 9:12 38:12

accept 49:12 75:7 81:2,6
84:11

access 25:14 39:14

accessible 74:14

accommodations 11:15 15:5

account 68:10

accountability 40:4 41:5

accountable 33:24 39:1,2

accounting 40:1

accuracy 22:22

accurate 66:2,5

accurately 98:6

achieve 42:21,22

Act 35:21 79:22

Acting 8:15 75:23 88:6

action 38:22,24 40:25 41:16,
17

active 20:1

activist 29:9

activity 56:3 82:17

actual 23:6 74:12

ad 90:13

add 51:1 63:15 64:17

adding 83:17

addition 29:14

additional 17:14 42:18 45:3
46:23 48:19 51:15,17 55:5
56:7 62:4 63:5 64:1 66:12
76:18 96:8,11

address 3:25 57:12 78:20

addressed 76:12

adds 9:3

adjourn 100:8

adjourned 100:17,20

adjournment 85:3,4

administered 57:18

administration 10:20

administrative 79:24 81:8
84:13

admitted 18:14

adopt 12:10

affect 2:22 14:25

affects 14:21

afford 13:13

afternoon 2:2 3:17,18 5:8,9,10
6:17,18 8:12 26:24 30:16,17,
24 31:1 33:1,2 34:11,13 38:18
40:10 42:2

agencies 25:13

agency 37:11 98:24

agenda 3:13 6:15 7:11,12,23
8:1,2

aggregate 30:9

agree 86:2 87:20 89:10

agreed 76:18 77:4

agreements 44:18

ahead 4:7 28:6 34:12 38:19
40:11 66:18 73:24 89:25

aided 9:21

airway 60:11

alarming 94:17

alert 18:25 19:1

alerts 20:12 21:14 29:16
62:23,25 63:1 64:21,25 65:3

align 13:22

aligned 15:11,14

alignment 3:8

alive 27:11

all- 48:22

All-star 11:11

Allen 8:19

allocated 64:4

allowing 79:15

Alright 7:9 30:4 38:16 75:11
80:25 82:14 84:9 91:15 92:21
93:4

alternatives 47:12

amazing 13:18,25

amen 2:9,10,11 3:9,10

amend 7:23 86:5 93:18 96:24

amended 95:11

amendment 86:19,22 87:6
88:24 89:11 90:24 91:3,4,6,9
95:7 97:1

America 86:15

America's 29:10 63:4

American 8:16 19:22

amount 16:20 44:17 46:18
47:4,7 51:16,22 60:21 74:10

amounts 58:19

analysis 23:20

analyst 57:21

analyze 94:13

anecdotal 21:21 30:11

Angela 2:7 8:16

Annie 85:18

anniversary 86:14 90:5,8,11,
16

anniversary... 89:19

announced 35:22

announcement 4:6

announcements 3:16 13:2
14:3 75:14
answering 68:8 94:3
answers 57:2 65:22 95:5
96:15 98:8
apologies 89:24
apologize 76:1 82:14
appears 69:6
apples 24:8
application 19:16
apply 49:12 74:17
appointed 9:10 10:19 86:25
90:6
appreciation 14:11
appreciative 9:2
apprehension 11:2
approached 27:15
appropriation 69:6
approval 7:11,13 8:3,6 93:12
approvals 72:8
approve 41:7 56:17 93:21
96:23
approved 7:13 8:2,5,8 43:15
44:3,5 96:10
approves 43:6
approving 98:25 99:15
approximately 51:6 54:14
April 43:5,16 44:2,3,6
archives 12:10
area 19:2 23:6 25:13 33:20
37:4 39:13 61:23 63:6 77:16
Aretha 11:13
argument 30:6
arising 63:23
armored 68:18
arms 17:12

ARPA 62:12
arrangement 47:9
arrest 28:10,17 29:17 61:21
arrested 5:17 22:10 29:22
arrests 20:12 21:15 63:2 65:4
arrival 90:3
arrive 27:11
arrived 18:12,15 19:3
ashamed 100:14
Ashley 75:5
aspect 82:15
assailants 23:1
assault 10:3 68:19
assigned 9:17,20,25 10:9,23
11:4,5 24:14,15 80:1
assignment 10:10
assist 77:5
assistance 18:14 69:25
Assistant 8:20 20:5
assisting 11:20
assume 37:6 70:1
assumed 67:20
assuming 37:5
ATPA 69:9,12
attached 50:2,5
attainable 20:18
attendance 8:25 9:2
attendees 13:6 75:21
attorney 4:21 6:22 8:12 76:4,
6,8,18 78:23
attorneys 8:24
audio 8:19
August 43:4,14
authorization 72:4
autism 35:5

auto 10:25 18:3 69:9,12,13,14
Avenue 3:24
avoid 4:24 5:22
award 11:10,12,13,14 13:19
57:25
awarded 5:16 29:18 49:8
awards 11:9,10,11 13:20 14:9
aware 20:25 21:5 22:9,23 61:5
Aye 12:19,20 80:8,9 91:12,13
93:1,2 99:9,10 100:12,13
eyes 12:22 80:11 93:4

B

back 17:17 20:14 27:20 30:18
38:9 43:23 44:19 48:25 55:14
67:14,21 74:13 77:3 80:14,15
92:22 95:3,24 99:1
backyard 21:23
Badge 80:1 81:7
Banks 6:24 14:6,7 22:20,21,25
23:7 59:5,6,16,20 70:12
72:18,21 73:1,3 78:7,8,12
80:21 83:13 84:20 86:16 89:9
92:16 99:22
Baptist 3:24
barricaded 9:22
Baseball 11:11
based 22:11 29:23 43:19
83:19 96:20
baseline 44:12,13 64:2
basically 43:13 46:22 47:3
48:16 61:20
basis 20:21 47:8
beautiful 42:21
began 9:12
begin 2:3 74:4 75:14
beginning 2:6

behalf 7:1 12:1 15:23 42:3
44:24 75:18

believing 2:18 3:8

Bell 6:20 9:7,8 38:24 41:13,14,
16 80:18 81:4 83:14,15 84:16
89:14,15,22 91:25 99:6,19

belongs 55:19

benefit 30:12

benefits 44:22 45:5 79:25 81:9
83:6,18 84:14

Bernard 6:5,22,23 12:15
14:17,18 15:16,19 21:3 23:9,
10 24:6,23 36:20,21,23 37:17,
22 39:7 42:14 48:5,11,13
49:21,22 50:10,16,21 51:22
52:1 56:24,25 58:5,22,25
59:2,4 63:15,16 64:6,9 65:8,
15 69:3,4,9,13,15,18,24 70:3,
7 73:5,8,10,11 75:16,17 78:11
79:13,14 80:20 81:10,11,13,
22,25 82:7,8,14 83:23 84:1,18
85:6,19 86:2,24 87:7,10,19,20
88:17,18,22 92:2,5,8,13,15
95:15,21 96:3,4,7 99:21
100:14

bid 53:4

bidding 72:8

Biden 62:11

bids 53:1,3

big 53:21

biggest 77:16

billion 73:7,9

birth 90:21

bit 35:6

bits 14:3

black 5:16 6:6

blackest 29:10 63:4

blades 70:22

bless 2:9 32:20

blessing 2:25

block 17:4 18:11,23

Blossom 8:14 77:20 89:15,19,
25 90:1

Blount 5:6,8,10

board 2:3,16 3:6 5:8 7:24 9:4
11:25 13:2 14:4 15:12,21 16:1
28:20 38:22,24 39:1,23 41:18,
20,25 42:2,10,11 45:18 58:15
75:13,18,21 77:1,4,9,10 79:24
83:22 85:24 86:7,18,25 87:14,
15,17 88:6,7,13,15,17 90:3,5,
8,11,15,21 94:5,8 98:4

Board's 4:12 49:14 94:3,24
97:14

boat 37:13

boathouse 47:19

body 13:20 14:14 34:17 96:19

bonds 48:2

bone 53:21

BOPC 3:19 8:9 77:17

border 25:16

born 31:4 32:2

bottom 46:21

boundaries 52:13

Bowl 11:12

Bowman 73:20,22,23,25

boy 17:24

bragged 39:12

break 9:25 61:8 71:19

breath 39:12

briefly 18:22 87:7

bring 77:1,3 95:24 97:12
98:18

broad 15:3

brought 35:18

Brown 3:16,17,19 4:10 6:16,
17,19,20,21,22,24,25 7:3,4,5,
8 8:11,12 75:24 80:16,17,18,

19,20,21,22,23,24 84:10,15,
16,17,18,20,21,22,23 88:14
91:19,23,24,25 92:1,2,16,17,
19,20 99:17,18,19,20,21,22,
23,25 100:1,5

budget 20:8 33:23 36:13
37:20 42:1,5,12,17,19 43:3,6,
12,15,20,23,24 44:2,5,8,13,
14,15,20 45:7,22 46:9 47:13,
24,25 48:24 49:9,24 50:3,5,6,
7 51:5,14,17,21 52:3,24 55:3
56:17,18,21 57:6,7,10 58:22
59:11,14 61:19 62:2,15,23
63:6,19 64:14 66:25 67:23
68:11,25 69:1,5 72:21 73:5,6
74:2,7 75:1 93:13,21 94:1,7,
15,20,22 96:10,23 97:22
98:10,18 99:16 100:10

budgetary 37:8

budgeted 45:21 48:22 51:10
64:11

budgets 94:10

build 17:15 19:12 33:10,21

building 71:20 94:18

buildings 94:19

bunch 17:10,25

burden 60:10,14,16,23 92:17

Burt 16:4

Burton 4:18 6:25 7:1,14,15,18
12:11 20:5,6,25 21:5,13 22:7
29:6,7,8 39:4 54:7,20,21
55:11 56:12 58:20 59:21,22
61:16,17,18 62:21 63:12
66:10,12,16,19,20 68:13
70:11,13,14,15,24 71:2,17
74:1 75:22 80:22 84:21 85:2,
10 86:3,4,5,23 87:21,22 88:3,
4,5 89:3,21 91:16,20 93:6,10,
18,23,24 95:12,22 96:15,24
97:2,5,8,10,11 98:2,12,14,22
99:12,23 100:2,9

Burton's 23:11

bus 33:19 34:15,16 36:16
37:13

buses 35:22 37:3
business 3:5 14:14,20 15:7
31:7 54:24 55:1,7,8 75:12
85:1 95:18,19 96:1
businesses 74:23
Butler 5:7 30:20 33:1,3
buy 71:20 94:18
bylaws 13:7,13 66:9 73:14,15
78:2

C

call 17:2,7 18:8 19:7 20:21
25:4 44:12 45:16 64:24 65:2
75:8 80:15,16 84:11 85:3
91:16,18,22 95:6,12 97:2
99:3,12,16
called 35:14 55:23 74:20 85:4,
10 91:16,18,22 99:4,14
calling 13:6 34:16 68:16
calls 16:16,17,18,21,22,25
canceling 21:1
Candace 8:15
capable 68:7
capacity 88:21
capital 47:15,16 48:1
Captain 10:19,21
car 17:17,25 60:20
care 31:12 39:10
career 9:13 11:8
carjackings 16:10
carry 75:7
Carter 7:3 54:7 80:23 84:22
85:9,14,15,22 87:9,11,21
92:19 93:5,9,11 99:2,3 100:1
Carter's 8:22 86:6
case 22:8 23:1 79:7
cases 22:15 75:4

casings 24:16,17
casualty 45:16
categories 14:15 15:4
caveat 89:6
ceasefire 57:15,17,20,23
58:13,19
celebrate 86:13 90:5
celebrating 16:5
celebration 19:25 87:25
Center 3:24 47:2 50:8 76:4,8
78:23
centers 34:25 74:6
Central 10:10
century 77:19 87:24
certainty 55:21
certificates 14:11
CFO 72:16
chair 3:17,25 4:10,18 6:17
8:12 9:6,8 12:9 14:7 15:25
20:16 21:19 22:21 23:7 24:4
26:25 28:19 29:6 30:16 34:4
38:5 40:8 41:13,14,19,23
51:3,15 54:12,21 55:10,16
56:15 58:3,20 59:6,22 60:3,25
61:16 62:3 64:7,18 67:16
70:13,20 71:13,25 72:19 73:3,
20 75:15 77:14 78:8 79:20
83:14,15 85:2,15,22 86:3 87:9
88:3 89:14,15,21 90:1 93:5,6,
11 96:5,17 98:2 99:6
chaired 78:12
Chairman 14:16 20:6 56:25
63:13 66:10 75:17 78:5 82:23
83:15 85:11 89:15 91:17,21
93:19,24 96:25 97:8,11,12
Chairperson 2:2,11 3:10,18
4:7,15,19,23 5:9 6:13,18,19,
20 7:9,17,22 9:1 12:9,12,14,
16,21,25 14:10,17 15:2,18,20
20:4 22:19 23:8 24:24 26:23
28:4 29:4,7 30:4,17,22 31:1
32:15,22 33:2 34:3,5,10,12

35:25 36:19,21 37:23 38:16,
19 40:7,11 41:11,14,24 42:7,
15 48:15 49:18 50:10,19 52:8
54:4,17,20 56:23 58:21 59:5,
21 60:5 61:15,17 63:9,14
64:16 65:11,20 66:9,11,14,18
69:2 70:14 72:14,20 73:4,11,
24 75:10 78:6,16 79:12,20
80:4,6,10,17,18,25 81:4,5,11,
19,24 82:5,9 83:12,25 84:8,
15,16,24 85:4,7,12,20 86:1,4,
19 87:4,8,19 88:4,23 89:4,11,
23,25 90:23 91:14,18,22,24,
25 92:4,6,10,14,21 93:3,8,14,
16,20 95:10,14,16,23 96:6,17
97:1,4,6,9,20 98:12,22 99:4,7,
11,14,18,19,25 100:4,6,8,11,
16
chance 15:12
change 15:12 33:10 37:25
41:10 46:25
Chaplain 2:7,9,12,16 3:11
Chapter 40:25
character 33:21
charge 10:14 47:7 68:3 83:16
charged 56:1 84:3
Charles 8:20
charter 43:9,12,19 83:16,20,
23 90:21
checked 19:2
Chi 32:7
Chicago 21:1,6,8 22:11 24:8
26:6,11 29:20,21 31:4 32:1,9,
10
chicken 74:24
chief 2:15 8:9,13,20 10:11,12
11:9 15:22,24 17:16 20:5,7,25
21:13 23:10 39:8 42:3 52:25
53:13 70:15 76:17,22 79:14,
15,18 81:3
Chief's 81:6,17 84:12
children 33:6,15

choose 6:8
Chris 34:8 38:20
Christ 2:14
circulated 90:13
cities 21:16 23:16,24 25:14
27:1 29:19,25 39:11,13,16,20
59:23 60:10
citing 22:15
citizen 4:1 5:11
citizens 11:15,18 12:1,6 13:9
33:22 37:2 53:19 54:1 60:16
61:24 79:8 84:6
CITS 45:4
city 2:24 3:1,3,5 8:22 9:20
12:1,23 14:9 20:11 21:5,8
25:15 28:1 29:10 34:15 39:6
40:23,24 41:1 42:20 43:5,9,
12,15,25 44:1,5,9,20 45:9,11,
15,23 47:4,7 49:1,4,9,11 50:3
52:10,12,13,25 53:15,17 54:2,
23,25 55:1,6,8,9,17,19,22
56:7,13 59:24,25 60:7,10,15,
16,23 61:12,22 62:10 63:4,8
64:21 67:3,5,10 69:22 72:5
73:5,6 74:2,21 79:8 82:23
84:3,6
city's 62:2 76:10
citywide 9:21 10:8
civil 29:8,13 35:20 63:3 90:19
civilian 30:2 57:21
clarification 42:9 65:24 76:13,
18
clarify 63:16
clarity 38:1 39:16
classrooms 33:7,14
cleaner 55:18,19
clear 39:9 83:16,21 91:8 96:9
97:20,23 99:1
close 44:25 45:4 73:6 79:21
closed 8:6 80:12,14 82:12

closely 40:13
closer 18:6
co-fund 56:6
coalition 57:23,25
code 22:25 23:2,3,6
Coffee 19:8,9
cognitive 35:4
Coleman 87:1
colleagues 23:24
collect 46:11,12 61:4
collecting 38:8
collections 46:1
color 29:12
colored 18:18
Commander 19:10 75:25
76:11
commanding 10:21
commands 10:21
commemorate 85:24
commend 73:25
commendation 14:12
commendations 13:22
comment 5:1,3 6:15 7:23
35:23 73:16 75:11 82:22
commented 75:3
commenter 38:17
commenters 73:17
commenting 75:2
comments 7:19,20 14:5 23:9
29:5 30:13 36:24 41:12,15
78:17 81:25
Commercial 10:25
commission 44:4 51:14 74:18
commissioner 2:10 4:18 6:1,
3,5,21,22,24,25 7:3,4,5,6,8,
14,15,18 8:23 12:11,13,15,24

14:1,6,7,17,18 15:16,19 20:5,
6,25 21:3,4,5,13 22:7,20,21,
25 23:7,9,10,11 24:6,23,24,25
25:2,7,17,21,23,25 26:5,10,
15,23,24 28:5,7,13 29:3,6,7,8
32:16 34:9 36:20,21,23 37:17,
22 38:1,2,15,24 39:4,6 40:9
41:16 42:14 48:5,11,13 49:21,
22 50:10,16,21 51:5,14,22
52:1,3,8,9,19 53:5,10 54:6,7,
8,9,12,15,19,20,21 55:11
56:12,23,25 58:5,20,22,25
59:2,4,5,6,16,20,21,22 60:5,6
61:14,16,17,18 62:21 63:12,
14,16 64:6,9,11,20 65:8,15
66:10,12,16,18,20 67:16
68:13 69:3,4,9,13,15,18,24
70:3,7,11,12,13,14,15,24
71:2,17 72:18,21 73:1,3,5,8,
10,11 74:1 75:16,17,22 78:7,
8,11,12,18,19 79:12,14 80:3,
5,19,20,21,22,23,24 81:2,10,
11,13,22,25 82:6,8,14 83:13,
23 84:1,2,17,18,20,21,22,23
85:2,6,9,10,14,15,18,19,22
86:2,3,4,5,6,16,23 87:7,9,10,
11,19,20,21 88:2,3,4,5,12,14,
21 89:1,2,3,5,6,9,21,22 91:16,
20 92:1,2,5,8,13,15,16,17,19,
20 93:5,6,8,10,11,15,18,22,24
95:12,15,21,22 96:2,4,7,15,24
97:2,5,8,10,11 98:2,12,14,22
99:1,3,12,20,21,22,23 100:1,
2,5,9,14
commissioner's 9:4 13:3
14:19 15:21 62:8 67:20
commissioner/attorney 86:24
commissioners 2:4,17 6:16
11:25 12:20 13:19 14:4 15:10
30:10,12,25 33:3 42:7 65:18,
21 75:18 80:9 83:22 85:17
86:8,21 88:11 89:1,13,17
90:6,9,11,22 91:1,10,13 92:24
93:2 97:22,24 99:10 100:13
commit 29:23
commitment 12:3
committee 4:1,2,3 13:6,9,13

75:15,19 76:17,19 77:4 78:7,
9,13,17
commonly 9:18
communicate 65:23 89:23
communicating 66:6
communication 34:23 75:13
97:21
communications 4:9,11,25
30:15 97:16
communities 23:16 29:12
33:5,9,23
community 3:22,24 8:11
11:19,23 12:5 13:5,9,15,17
14:8,9,20,21 19:10 20:9 27:4
28:3 29:9 30:7 40:18 42:21
55:15 75:22 77:18,20 90:2,15
community's 19:5
companies 53:16,20 54:3
69:20
company 53:25
compare 32:8
compared 24:9 46:2 83:4
comparing 24:7
comparison 60:1
complain 31:3,4,17 32:8,24,25
33:25
complaining 31:10,15
Complaint 4:2
complaints 5:11,12 53:14
completely 47:18
completes 43:23 44:1
completion 11:7
component 57:23
comprehensive 40:1
comprises 10:15
concern 35:17 82:15 83:5
concerned 3:2 23:15 32:11
42:19 62:7

concerns 34:17,24 35:9,11,12
39:5,7 54:22 74:25 76:9,12
77:15 94:21,22,23,24,25
conclusive 26:10
concur 88:1
conduct 3:4 10:2
conference 17:16
confident 36:17
confidential 4:23
confiscated 21:15,16
confused 65:11
congratulate 12:7
congratulations 12:22 32:23
connected 64:25 65:3
Consent 11:10
consideration 44:1
considered 13:9
consisting 10:25
consists 46:6
constantly 74:9
constituents 84:4
constructed 8:1
construction 74:12
consummate 11:23
contact 18:20
contention 53:21
contest 27:3
context 90:23
continual 98:7
continue 16:5,9 17:11 36:7
48:15 76:19 82:25 98:16
continuing 29:25
contract 52:21
contracts 53:1 72:8,9
contractual 47:8

contribute 33:18
contribution 12:2
control 9:23
conversation 30:5 79:9 98:15
conversations 94:10
convey 79:15
convicted 22:11 77:17 81:16
convictions 20:12 29:17
61:22 63:2 77:12
coop 74:24
Coordinator 90:2
coordinators 57:24
Cop 19:8,10
copy 83:6,8
correct 11:4 26:14 51:15,25
52:12 54:17 59:1 64:14 66:1
69:7,8 70:2
Corrections 47:5
correctly 98:5
corrupt 6:11
cost 47:1,13 50:3 51:19 55:25
57:6 72:1,12 94:20
costing 54:25 55:6
costs 23:17 29:14 33:19
45:12,13 55:5 71:19
couch 17:6
council 8:22 33:22 43:5,16,25
44:1,10 45:9 49:11 82:23
83:21
counselor 33:8
counted 13:11
country 37:11
County 5:16
couple 48:23 74:8 75:20 85:9
courage 12:4
court 8:18

courts 82:2
cover 18:21 29:15
covering 61:20
cowards 17:7
Cox 9:6,9,10,12,14,15,24 10:2,
5,13,16,19,21 11:3,4,8,17
12:4,8,23
created 56:5
credentials 86:11 88:12
crime 10:23 11:1 15:8 16:4,12
18:8,20 19:7 29:23 31:11 50:8
76:2
crimes 70:5 76:1
criminal 82:17
crisis 35:16
Criswell 80:1 81:3,7 84:12
criteria 13:23
critical 5:20 6:6
criticize 33:8
crowd 9:22 78:13
current 15:11 38:3 44:13,15
45:11,20 46:2,24 48:7 52:23
57:4,16 63:19 76:25 87:5
custody 17:14
cut 16:10
CVI 27:2
Cy 8:18

D

danger 25:21
dangerous 6:12
Danny 19:25
dark 18:18
Darryl 75:22 88:14
data 16:4 24:9,10,22 25:14
30:8 39:14,15,20,24 40:4 60:4

date 36:3 41:19,22 63:25 90:8
92:9,11
Davenport 2:16
Davidson 3:25
Davis 8:22,23 34:9 40:9,10,12
88:13
day 7:2 19:13 26:20 60:21
67:12 99:1
days 21:23 75:20
Dayton 29:19
DDC 47:6,10,13 54:9,13
DDOT 34:20 36:5,13
de-escalation 35:15
dead 19:3
deadline 44:7
deadlines 43:7,8,10,11,13,19,
20
deaf 35:9
deal 6:10 35:3,8 37:1,2,9,12
dealership 18:4
dealing 28:14 35:21
dealt 31:18
death 35:17
deceased 18:16
December 48:25 94:8
decent 3:3
decided 5:19 35:24
decision 96:17
declared 18:15
decrease 16:7,8,10,11,17
44:21,25
dedication 11:21
Defense 66:23,25 68:17 70:17
71:4
definition 55:24
definitions 15:3

delegate 87:3
department 9:11 11:18,20
23:13 29:15 30:8 31:18 39:3,
25 40:22 42:20 44:23 45:2,14
46:13 47:5,23 50:4 52:14,17
56:20 57:8,18,19,22 58:14
63:11,12,23 66:21,23,25
67:10 68:14,17 70:1,16,17
71:3,4,8 75:4 77:23 79:1 94:6
98:17
department's 7:21 20:8 42:4
43:22 57:4 66:24 68:22 79:23
departments 26:25 39:21,24
40:2,6 43:6 45:25 62:22
deplorable 60:9
deployed 34:19 35:10 67:9,11
68:23 71:6
deployment 29:16
deputy 23:10 39:8 79:14,17
deserving 11:9
designated 80:13
desire 2:23 97:25
desires 15:12
desk 82:19
destroyers 39:15
detail 66:3 71:11,15,16 72:9
detailed 46:10 57:15
details 57:3 70:4 72:11
detained 20:13
Detectives 18:16
detention 47:2 63:24
determine 18:16
Detour 4:4
detriment 40:18
Detroit 2:3,15 3:21 5:18 9:10,
12 11:1,17,18,20,25 12:2,6,23
18:8,20 19:7 20:14 21:9,17
22:14,16 24:10 27:3,12,14
29:11,25 33:24 34:15 36:6

40:13,17,22,23,25 41:1 44:5
45:15 47:2,4,7 49:2,4 50:3
52:10,13 53:15 54:2,23,25
55:7 56:13 57:15 59:24 60:2,
11,17,23 61:22 63:4 64:21
66:21,24 67:5 68:13 69:22
70:16 71:8 72:9 75:3 76:4,8
77:8,18 78:23 79:9 84:4,6

Detroit's 68:22

Detroiters 7:2 62:13

developed 76:16 79:10

Dexter 3:24

dignitary 9:23

diligence 66:4 78:21

diligent 65:21

dime 68:2,3

direct 50:20

directed 63:10

direction 16:6,13 28:23 36:11,
18

directly 49:19 50:17

director 8:17 43:20,24

disabilities 35:4,8,13 37:10

disciplinary 38:24 41:16,17

disclosure 82:11

discovered 18:4

discuss 46:25

discussed 46:24 76:9

discussion 12:17,18 76:23
78:25 80:7 81:9 82:10 83:14
84:9 85:8,21 86:1 87:5 88:24
91:2 92:25 93:22 96:2,21
97:7,8,9

discussions 19:12 45:7

discussion... 97:7

disenfranchising 98:23

disgusted 31:25

dismiss 24:5

dismissed 24:1 53:25

dispatched 17:4 18:10,23

display 12:4

disrespect 89:24

distance 43:2

distinguished 14:19

district 6:23 10:10,15 14:19,
24 23:2 34:14 38:21 40:19
93:25

distrust 33:15

Division 9:16

document 4:24

doggone 71:21 100:10

dollar 20:19 22:10 56:18
58:17,19 67:24 68:11 72:7

dollars 23:17 41:3 44:18 47:25
55:11,13 56:9 58:18 61:7
62:5,9,19 66:24 68:8,20,24
94:18

Don 8:17

donated 68:4

don't 65:6

doubling 5:12

DPD 5:24 8:17 19:19 34:19
35:10 37:4 38:4,7 39:12 42:1,
3 43:6 44:8 45:7,17,18 46:14
47:11,16,21 49:11 54:5 55:20
58:14,16,23 60:15 61:9 62:4
67:7 68:1 72:1,5,11,17,22,24
93:12 94:2

DPDS 56:22 62:15 93:21 94:1
96:23

DPD'S 99:16

DPO 8:24

DPSF 57:25

draft 78:1 90:14

drafts 90:25

driver's 77:25

drivers 36:16

driving 18:18

drove 17:25 18:2

due 35:11 56:14 66:4 78:21

Duly 65:20

dumping 6:1

Durhal's 8:23

duties 40:14

duty 38:25

Dyke 18:18 23:1,4

E

E911 46:6

earlier 43:14 55:23 61:1 62:6

early 5:2,4 19:23

easily 20:18

Eastside 27:12

easy 85:22

echo 3:14 4:17

echoing 39:7

economic 42:22

educated 77:10

education 33:18

educational 33:17

effective 20:10 24:10 27:4,6
28:1,2 42:23

efficient 42:22

effort 10:4

efforts 33:12

elected 8:10,20 83:4 90:7

elementary 33:20

Elgin 8:16

elicit 34:17

eloquently 15:7

else's 17:8
emergency 39:23 95:25
employed 15:7
employees 44:24 45:15
employing 57:23
employs 14:20
encompassed 10:7
encourage 13:18 30:7 65:20
encourages 73:14
end 26:6,7 28:23 43:5 47:10
endeavors 12:7
ends 42:5 43:5 49:2,5,6
enforcement 11:7,22 14:25
engaged 33:6
engineer 4:15
enhance 28:21
enjoyed 78:14
enquiry 4:13
enrichment 33:13,18,21
ensure 13:1,16 15:5,9,11
28:25 53:19 79:10
ensuring 9:16 13:24 54:1
enter 79:21
Entering 9:25
entertains 12:9 79:21
enthused 22:14
entire 64:15
equipment 52:15,16 67:1,2,4,
8,11 68:1,6,12,16,20 70:18
71:6,12
equity 42:22 53:11
Eric 5:6 76:4,6,8
escort 9:23
established 13:11
estimate 71:25 72:3,12

evaluated 26:7
evaluation 76:20
event 19:10 87:22,23,24
events 19:20
everyone's 9:2 41:12
evidence 22:12 29:23
exact 27:20 62:10
examples 57:2
excellence 12:3
excellent 34:23
exception 46:22 48:18
excited 16:13,20 22:14
excitement 36:10
excuse 7:6 18:14 27:7 34:7
66:5,11 79:23 87:8
Executive 76:2
exhausted 66:15
existing 63:22
exit 80:13
exonerated 79:2
Exonerees 76:6
expect 44:21,25 46:11,12 53:1
64:13 74:11
expected 47:3,10 64:1
expenditures 46:13,16,18,19
47:15,16 51:12 54:11,13
expenses 45:6
expensive 29:14 50:25
experience 32:13
expertise 37:3
expire 59:15
expires 57:25
explanation 58:5
exploited 53:20
express 34:24

extra 60:10
extremely 21:12 22:4 26:19
eyes 16:23
eyewitness 76:22 77:12,13,16

F

facial 10:9 28:14
facilities 51:19
facility 47:20
fact 17:8 31:5 39:19 47:1 56:8
58:12 61:6 62:4 78:20 90:13,
15
facts 83:20
failed 38:25
fails 92:21 98:25
fair 19:13 58:16 83:2 86:17
fairly 61:1
fairness 53:11
Faith-based 57:22,25
fall 36:5
falls 14:15 36:4
false 5:14 62:25 63:1
falsely 5:17 20:13 22:10
familiar 22:7
family 20:2 82:21
fashion 74:14
fatal 17:22 18:11 27:21
fatally 27:8,17,18,23
Father 2:19,22 3:3,5,7
faulty 77:13
favor 12:18 80:8 91:3,8 93:1
96:22 99:8 100:11
favoritism 86:17
fear 33:15
February 3:20 4:1,2 7:11,14

8:3,7 9:11 11:8 17:3,23 18:9,
22 19:6,21,22 36:9 43:20,22
75:20
federal 49:6 67:25 70:2,8
82:24
fee 61:12
feedback 77:2
feel 32:12 36:16 63:4 98:23
fees 56:1 61:4
feet 20:19 26:21
felony 82:3,10
felt 75:2
female 17:6
fiduciary 30:1
fighter 17:11
figures 57:6
final 37:21 40:8
finalize 43:15
finally 75:1 78:3
finance 44:4
finances 68:3
financial 42:3 44:3 52:25
63:22
Financially 55:20
find 13:3 21:24 31:19 42:7
60:19,22 63:6 65:22 82:19
finding 82:2,18,22 83:1
findings 83:10
fine 92:13
finish 96:1
finished 78:3 94:3
fire 18:5 31:10
firearms 65:4
fired 17:10,25 26:22
Fireworks 11:10
Firstly 38:21

fiscal 46:1,15,24 48:21 49:1,3,
5,6 57:5,8,9,16 63:19,20,25
64:1 69:10 93:12,13,21 96:23
97:12 99:16
fish 50:17
Fitzgerald 8:20 15:23,25 20:5,
16 21:7,19 22:13,22,24 23:5,
11 24:4,7 25:1,5,9,20,22,24
26:3,9,14,18 28:6,11,18 29:2
35:25 36:2 37:7,19 38:5 47:9
62:6 64:16,18 68:7 70:20,25
71:13 79:14
fixed 39:19
flag 39:22
flashbang 67:13
floor 89:12 90:24
focused 13:20
folks 16:19 20:20 22:3 38:7,9
follow 94:5
force 10:1 11:1 31:12 57:4
65:16 82:17
forces 57:10
Ford 11:10
forecasts 45:23
forever 22:5
form 39:15
formal 37:24 72:16
formally 41:18 82:24
forum 35:18,19
forward 47:23 79:16 96:20
98:9
found 19:2 27:16,18 34:18
foundation 33:12
Fox 74:24
framework 89:17
Franklin 11:13
fraud 10:4

Fred 8:22
Freda 5:7 30:20
freely 39:13
freeze 38:9
Friday 5:16 17:22 18:9
fringe 44:21,22
front 17:7 32:4,5 56:17
Fugitive 11:1
full 64:5,7,10 68:9 78:24
fully 36:12 49:12 62:7 68:7
fund 46:3,7,14,15,17,19 47:25
48:2,4,6 55:23,24 56:1,4
61:11 64:4 65:7 69:20 72:25
fundamentally 83:9
funded 48:1,14
Funding 64:4
funds 33:12,19 56:7,21 57:22
62:12 72:24,25 74:11,12
Funeral 11:12,13
furtherance 2:24
future 12:7 39:6 46:17 70:7
77:5 79:17

G

Gamble 7:6
game 5:25
games 5:22
gave 90:21
gear 67:11
geared 43:10 62:15
general 46:3,14 47:25 64:4
72:25
Generally 79:17
generation 11:7
gentleman 36:15 81:17
gentleman's 36:24

gentlemen 79:16
germane 15:8
Gilmer-hill 34:8 38:20
girl 17:6 65:6
give 14:10 24:9 27:5 57:2,13
58:1 64:8,19 65:13 68:9 73:15
77:2 92:15 95:8
giving 2:12,14 13:10 14:8
39:15,20
glowing 36:10
goals 77:19
God 2:9,13,18,19,21 32:20
gold 33:25
good 3:17,18 5:9 6:17,18 8:12
16:25 17:1 21:9 25:1 26:24
30:16,17,24 31:1 32:19 33:1,2
34:11,13,21 35:2 38:18 40:10
42:2 60:17 61:25 63:8 78:12
86:12 89:9
govern 39:17
governance 42:23
government 35:19 67:25 70:2
74:21 82:25
government's 49:6
governments 49:3
grade 67:4 68:19 70:18 71:12
graders 33:16
graduating 9:11
Grand 47:21
grant 46:17 49:7 57:22,25
58:12 68:20 69:25 70:8,9
grants 48:20,24 49:4,8,10
69:7 70:8
grateful 33:24 41:11
gratitude 79:15
great 12:1 24:3 79:9 86:17
greater 41:5

Green 50:7 76:3,7,14,20
Greenlight 76:10
grenades 67:13
Grinnell 47:19
ground 17:19 67:13
group 27:2
grow 47:3
guarantee 40:4 55:21
guess 15:4 26:18
guest 75:24 76:6 77:21,22
guilt 83:1
gun 65:5
gunfire 64:22
gunman 9:22
guns 21:15 22:3 31:24 61:21
63:1
gunshot 18:13
gunshots 26:22 64:24
guys 32:18

H

Ha 23:13
had... 91:21
half 16:10 46:21 71:22 87:24
94:18
halt 39:23
hand 44:6 67:1 74:22
hand-me-down 68:15
handcuffs 28:24
handle 3:15 37:14 47:5 95:18
handles 56:20
handling 95:19
hands 40:5
Handyside 8:18
hanging 17:11

haphazardly 24:16
happen 14:23 41:6 57:19
95:17
happened 19:6 25:3,17 88:20
90:3
happening 33:9
happy 17:13 24:11,20 36:15
49:16
hard 74:4
hardworking 6:10
Hayes 8:15
Haynes 79:18
head 2:13 27:9 71:1
headquarters 3:21 4:5 75:21
health 16:15 19:20 35:14,16
55:13 56:10 57:18 58:14
hear 8:9 73:23 78:20 81:24
heard 38:18 40:10 60:8 74:5
79:3,6
hearing 3:13 7:12,25 8:1,4,8
12:17 15:22 78:17 80:7 84:9
91:3 92:25 96:22 97:7
Heart 19:20,22
heck 32:17
held 19:9 75:20
helicopter 70:22,23
hell 5:10 32:9,19
helping 55:18
helps 20:23 28:22
Herberg 34:8
Herbert 3:22
Hernandez 6:2 7:5 12:24
high 45:20 67:23
higher 45:14 58:22
hijackers 31:13
HILL 38:18

hiring 19:13
historical 35:11 90:18
hit 28:14
hold 13:10 38:25 39:1
Holderbaum 19:10
Holley 85:18 88:2 91:7 92:24
Holt 85:18 88:2 91:7 92:24
home 16:2 19:25 25:11 90:19
homicides 16:6 64:25
honest 6:10
honor 2:12,14 12:2 13:1,17,24
14:14 85:25
honorable 16:1 51:5 58:15
88:18
honorably 86:25 88:13,14,17
honored 89:17
honoring 9:5,9 87:16
hookah 27:21
hoops 72:6
hope 9:2 17:12 60:7 91:7
horrible 5:13 6:7
hospital 17:20 27:11
hosted 89:16 90:10
hosting 3:24
hour 73:15,16,17,21
hours 78:15
house 17:10 33:11
housekeeping 13:2
housing 9:16,17
HR 8:17
humble 21:11 65:7
hunch 48:3
hurt 82:21
hush 57:14

I

lan 75:25 76:11
idea 71:9
ideal 16:15
identification 76:23 77:12,14,
16
identified 60:1
identify 20:23
IG 41:20
illegal 6:1
illuminated 30:6
immigrants 32:4,5
impetus 90:20
important 23:20,25 77:7 97:18
impossible 61:8
imprisoned 5:18
imprisonments 5:15
improve 31:15
improved 12:5
improvements 76:19 77:5
incarcerated 79:11
inception 56:6
incident 17:24 18:21 19:6 25:2
27:13,19
incidentally 49:24
incidents 16:24 35:13,14
include 10:11 33:23 67:24
included 46:10 75:25 87:4
includes 43:18 51:7,8,9 52:4
57:20 58:9
including 43:6 50:12 52:6
57:5 65:16 75:23 88:16 90:20
inclusive 48:23
income 45:25 46:1 82:20 83:9

incoming 4:8 75:13
incorrect 65:8,12
increase 40:21 44:17,20 54:16
increased 35:1 45:12 51:13,19
increases 44:11,12
increasing 45:13
incur 51:12
independently 28:8,17
indicted 82:24
individuals 13:17 15:1 35:3
ineffective 23:18
inefficient 23:18
influence 32:13
information 5:20 18:7,19 19:6
21:20 22:6 30:11 42:18 45:17,
18 48:25 49:14 51:4 57:13
71:1 82:6 96:11
infraction 82:2
initial 89:12
initiated 37:24
injured 16:2
innocence 5:21 77:8,9
innocent 67:12
innovative 42:23
inquiries 94:1
inside 25:11
institutions 49:3
insufficient 65:23
insurance 69:19 83:7
insurances 44:23
intact 46:22
integrity 11:21
Intelligence 76:3
intentions 38:1
interacting 33:14

interested 19:18 37:5 60:22
internal 43:8,10,13
internally 43:8
interrupted 82:21
intervene 26:2
intervened 26:16
introduce 89:23
introduction 6:16 8:9
inventory 67:7 68:22 71:3,5,
10,12 72:2
invest 62:12
invested 20:11
investigate 18:11
investigation 10:15 28:21
41:20 75:7
investigations 10:3
investigative 24:18 28:19,20
investigator 8:13,15 9:25
10:1,2,5,12
investigators 10:18
investment 62:1,8
invisible 35:9
invited 96:5,12
invocation 2:6,8
invoices 64:1
involve 49:11
involved 17:9 21:17 37:6,18
59:25
island 23:15
issue 14:22 45:11 83:18
issues 61:24 65:25 77:11
item 7:15 44:25 45:8 49:24
55:3,12 58:25 62:22 63:5
68:25 94:13,22 97:19
items 3:12 4:14 44:16 46:2
50:22 57:7 94:12

I'd 95:6 97:12
I'm 99:12

J

January 25:3
Jasmine 8:14 75:24
Jerome 8:13
Jesus 2:14,20
Jesus' 3:9
Jim 88:1
job 32:11,17,19 60:9 85:23
jobs 6:7 82:19,20
John 79:25 81:7 84:12
Johnson 31:9
joined 54:7 83:13
joining 19:18
jokes 5:21
Jones 76:2,12,15
Jonya 8:14
Joshua 25:3,7,18
journalists 67:15
judge 22:8,17
Judgment 11:10
July 9:15 36:4 41:10 42:5
90:7,17 92:3,9,18
June 42:6 49:2,5 53:2 64:12
jury 5:16
justice 55:14 69:24 70:1 76:4,
8 78:23
justify 68:9
justifying 57:6

K

Katrina 8:17
Kenneth 76:5,24

kids 31:24 37:1,9
killed 31:14
kind 3:14 23:20 24:15 30:22
31:9 36:14 74:4,22 83:11
kindly 61:14
kinds 82:19
knowledge 39:17 82:6

L

Labelle 8:13
labor 44:18 45:13
laboring 3:2
lack 35:12,15
Ladon 8:22
land 53:2
language 8:16 77:6
large 61:2,6 74:10 78:13
largely 50:1
lasted 78:15
lastly 19:23,24 56:12
last... 92:12
Laura 34:8
law 4:12 11:7,22 14:24,25
lawsuit 22:10 79:4
lawsuits 5:14 20:13 21:16
29:17,18 40:22 41:2,4 56:13,
19 61:22 63:3,23 67:2,6
lay 33:11
laying 17:6
lead 28:20
leader 15:7
Leaders 8:11
leadership 5:19 34:21 77:18
leading 22:1
leads 16:18 24:19 28:19 57:22

League 11:11
leave 79:24 81:8 84:6,13
led 21:25 76:24
left 38:7 87:16 96:9
legal 4:22 23:13 56:19 82:2
83:10
lethal 57:4,10 65:16
letter 4:11,21 53:13
letters 11:14
letting 39:13
level 15:5 45:20
liability 63:22
liberties 29:9,13 63:3
license 77:25
licensed 38:10,13
lieutenant 9:6,9 10:14,16,18
11:3,5,8,17 12:4,8,23
life 2:13 12:6 19:25 61:24
62:9,12,17
lifelong 12:2 38:21
Light 50:7 76:3,7,14,20
lighter 67:17,22
likes 78:23
Linda 6:22 88:21
lineups 76:23
Lisa 54:7
list 48:23
listed 44:16 46:19
listen 16:25
listening 78:22
lists 57:10
live 40:18
lively 30:5
lives 20:23 26:15 28:2 31:22
located 4:14

location 3:20 16:4
lock 22:2
long 22:5 38:23 59:8,9 78:15
long-term 34:15
longer 59:13 67:18
Lord 2:13,20
losing 55:1,9,22 65:5
lot 21:14 22:3 32:9 33:25
36:10 38:5 51:9 53:14 54:21
55:4 71:15,21 86:9
lots 47:19 50:13,23 51:20,23
52:2,5,6 62:9 74:2,3
lounge 27:21
love 31:18
lower 46:1
loyalty 11:21
lying 18:12 19:2

M

mad 5:10
Madam 52:3 64:10
made 7:19 39:9 63:2 96:17,19
maintain 10:24 59:13
maintains 13:24
maintenance 50:13 52:6 55:4
59:14 74:11
major 11:11 35:9,17 41:10
44:11,16 45:24 76:1
majority 6:9 7:1 84:10
make 5:4 13:22,23 14:12
15:14 19:17 24:19 31:6 33:10
35:23 41:4 43:25 45:8 53:19
54:1 65:23 66:4 73:12 77:21
79:8 81:2,21 87:17 93:6
makes 6:11 37:8
making 17:19 41:9 55:1,9
60:18 90:14

man 5:16 21:22,24 31:16
78:15
managed 11:6
management 5:25 10:17 72:1
manager 57:24 76:2 97:13
mandated 43:8,9,11,19
mandates 83:20
mandatory 44:6,19
manner 27:25
March 3:23 4:3 43:25 78:4
Marie 8:21
Marvin 76:2,12,15
massive 39:18,22
material 71:19 94:21
matter 31:5 56:8,13 58:12
82:12 95:17
mayor 31:6,8,9 43:21,22,24
62:11 86:25
mayor's 32:10 44:9 55:20
mayors 82:23
MCL 79:22,23
Mcphail 88:16
MDOC 47:10
meaning 56:1 68:5
means 96:14 98:15
medical 18:14 79:25 81:8
83:6,7,17 84:13
medics 18:15 19:3 27:10
meet 4:3 34:23 36:15
meeting 2:4,6 3:19,22 4:2 5:4
9:3 13:5,6,12,16 24:2 30:9
31:2 43:11 75:20 76:13,17
77:24,25 78:4,24 79:18 90:8,
17 97:3 100:17,20
meetings 4:1 79:22
meets 4:2

member 20:1 89:24
members 10:8 13:7,9,13
19:11 39:2,3 75:23 78:25 88:7
98:4
memorialize 54:4
men 6:6 86:9
mental 16:15 35:14,16 55:13
56:10
mention 23:3
mentioned 15:17 61:2 62:10
mentor 11:6
mentors 33:6
Merit 11:10
met 36:16 62:11
Metropolitan 9:12
mic 89:20,24
Michael 22:11 29:21
Michigan 38:10 47:5,8 49:5
69:17,19
microphone 21:3 29:10,11
42:14,15
middle 16:25 18:13
Mile 27:22
miles 20:8 29:15 61:21 64:15
milestone 87:24
military 67:4,11 68:6,11,19
70:17 71:12
million 5:17 44:17 45:1,5,22,
23 46:3,4,15,17,18 47:3,13,
17,22 50:12,23,24 51:6,17,24
52:4 54:10,14,15 55:2 57:8,9
58:8 59:7,9,17 62:11 64:2,3,
13,14 68:10 69:6,10,16,25
71:18,20,22,24 72:3,5,13,22,
25 74:6 94:16,18,19
millions 23:17 41:2
mind 68:8 70:9
mindful 81:12

mine 33:25
Minister 5:6,8,10
minute 17:18 80:11
minutes 7:14 8:3,4,5,6,8
mispronounced 76:1
missed 44:7
missing 6:2 75:4,6,9
mitigate 10:4
mix 65:25
model 60:1
Monczunski 34:6,14
money 23:19,22,23 37:6,18
45:10,17 46:6 47:4,24 48:8
49:4 51:8,9 55:1,2,9,22,25
60:18,21 61:4,11 63:18,20,21
69:15 72:4 74:9,10
monitor 43:1
month 19:22 83:7,8
monthly 4:1 34:24 36:15
Moore 7:4
morning 17:3,23 19:24
motion 12:9,12 79:21 80:11
81:1,2 83:14 84:11,25 85:13,
16 86:6,20 87:5 88:24 89:12
90:24,25 91:5,6 92:4,7,10,11,
21,22,25 93:4,7,12,18 95:7,
11,24 96:1,2,13,19,22,23,24
97:2,4,6 100:7,17
motions 72:7 85:9,16 96:18
motion... 91:15
move 3:12,16 4:25 7:10,13,15,
18,20,23 8:2,5 9:4 15:22
30:14 34:4 41:25 75:12 80:3
98:9 100:8
moved 12:13,16 58:13 80:6
81:5 85:7,20 93:16,20 99:7
Mover 36:7,8
moving 16:13 36:11,17 96:20

muffled 25:10
multi- 10:24
multi-assignments 9:14
multimillion 22:10
multiple 18:13
municipalities 69:21
Murphy 8:16
Mustang 18:1

N

NACOLE 89:16 90:10
name's 38:20
names 53:17 67:20
Narcotics 10:25
National 40:25 77:10
nature 28:16 53:16,18 60:22
79:4 88:9
Nazarko 42:1,2,9,16 48:7,12,
16 49:21 51:3,25 52:3,12,21
53:7 54:12,18 55:10,16 56:15
58:3,7,24 59:1,3,6,11,18,23
60:3,25 61:18 62:3,21 64:5,7,
10 66:8,13,21 67:16 69:1,8,
12,14,17,19 70:2,4,10 71:18,
25 72:24 73:2,6,9 94:3,4,7
95:2 96:6 97:15,17 98:6,11,18
Nazarko's 96:5
needed 63:5
neighborhood 11:19 19:11
33:4 40:20,21
neighborhoods 42:20 62:16
Network 40:25
Newkirk 19:25 20:1
NIBIN 24:18
nice 94:6
night 17:1
Nixon 76:5,24

non-fatal 17:5
non-responsive 50:2
non-sworn 19:19
nonfatal 16:7 65:1
nos 91:14
note 6:13 67:17,22 77:7
noted 65:20
noting 3:11 5:2
November 11:3
NPOS 33:22 45:4
nuances 53:22 79:6
number 5:11 16:22 25:25
37:21 41:4 50:11 51:10,11
54:22,24 57:18 62:10 69:5
80:1 81:7
numbers 16:5,14 20:14 30:9
42:17 45:19,20 46:11 48:17
53:7 56:16 58:1,2,6,7 62:16,
18
numerous 11:14

O

Obama's 77:19
objection 7:12,25 8:4,5,7
81:14 82:4
obligated 44:20
observed 18:12
obvious 96:16
October 10:18 49:7
odd 50:24
offending 35:7
offense 83:1
offer 6:3
offers 27:3
office 4:12 8:22,23 10:11,14
23:13 42:3 44:9 45:7 52:25
55:20 59:25 81:17 96:11

officer 5:19 9:12,14,15,24
10:21 16:2,3 19:25 25:3,7,18
27:15 38:3 42:3 53:1 56:3
58:11 79:25 81:3,7,16 84:12
Officer's 9:5
officers 3:1 6:9 13:3 14:4
15:21 17:4 18:10,12,14,23
19:1,11 24:14,15 26:20 27:7,
22,25 33:4,14 38:3 40:14
45:3,19 46:23 48:19 57:21
62:24 69:23 77:15 83:3
Official 8:21
officially 43:4
officials 8:10 83:4
Ohio 29:19
one's 19:4 29:13
ongoing 28:21
on... 99:13
open 19:4 79:22 80:15 81:12
operate 54:25 55:7
operating 26:13 45:6 47:2
54:23 55:8
operation 9:13 10:24 50:4
51:7 53:22 54:10 56:8 60:15
61:1 69:23
operational 55:17
operations 10:2 42:23 46:7,9,
12,16 47:6,14 50:12 51:4,6
52:5,11,14 54:13 55:18,22
56:5,6,10,22 58:13,15,19 60:8
61:4,5 62:5 70:5
opining 85:12
opinion 21:11 28:1 65:7
opportunity 5:4,24 42:22
78:24 86:12 98:24
oppose 100:16
opposed 12:21 80:10 91:14
93:3 99:11
opposite 56:9

oral 4:25 30:15
oranges 24:8
order 2:25 3:4 74:7 80:15
89:21,22 95:10,16 96:1,21
ordinance 43:10,12,19
organization 40:23 76:5
organize 87:2
Organized 10:23
original 92:22
originally 25:9
our... 89:16
outcome 33:20 41:21
outlandish 60:12
outrageous 60:13
outreach 57:24
outsourced 74:16
outstanding 97:25
overdose 16:21 27:16
overlaps 49:8
oversee 3:6
overseen 74:20
oversees 44:4
oversight 10:17,20 13:21
14:8,13 15:3,6 30:2 38:25
71:7 74:17,23 86:14 88:8,19,
21
overturned 77:13
overview 57:15
overviews 45:20
overwhelming 32:6
overworked 62:24

P

package 4:14
packets 42:8

pages 50:18
paid 56:13 67:3 68:2,3
painless 19:17
pardon 57:24
parents 31:23
Parks 11:12 62:14
part 16:11 20:15 27:2 48:12,13
50:8 79:18
participants 13:12
participate 79:16
participates 66:22 68:14
participating 71:8
participation 79:17
partner 25:18
pass 47:6
passed 20:1 99:15
passes 80:11 84:25 93:4
100:7,17
passport 41:18
past 18:2 19:9 41:19 74:19
86:8 88:7 89:17,18
path 22:1
Patillo 8:17
patrol 9:21 11:5 40:20
patrolling 9:16
patrols 36:6
pay 41:1 44:24 51:8,9 58:11
59:16 60:21 64:13 79:25 81:8,
18,23 82:1,16,25 83:4,8,17,19
84:13
paying 41:2 59:9
pays 47:4 69:22
peaceful 67:9
pending 29:17 41:16,17
Pennsylvania 17:5
pension 38:8,9

Pentagon 68:16
people 3:1 6:10 17:13 20:24
31:12,14 32:10 35:5,12 36:7,
8,12 37:2,10 57:11 60:19,23
75:5 77:17 78:22 79:10 82:20,
23 84:3 85:23 86:18 87:12,14,
16 88:15
people's 40:20
pepper 67:13
perceived 82:3
perennial 74:13
period 22:5 55:8 73:9
person 14:20,23 17:14,15
75:4,9 77:11 99:25
person's 82:16
personal 6:4
personally 79:5
personnel 42:18 45:3,5 46:20,
21 48:17 51:7 52:6
persons 6:2
pertaining 67:3
petitions 2:21,25
phenomenal 79:1
phones 26:21
pick 25:15 26:22 56:4
pitiful 32:11
place 4:4 20:19 36:4,5 81:6
84:12
plan 87:23 95:3
planned 90:12
plate 77:25
play 5:25
pleased 60:6
plenty 24:9,10 94:9 95:8
plug 29:19,21
PM 2:2 3:20,23 4:3,4 18:10,23
19:15 78:4

podium 97:13
point 16:10 19:4 26:4 28:22
37:8 47:10,22 49:10 50:24
61:10 65:9,15 88:9 89:21,22
90:14 92:5 95:10,16
pointed 46:8
pointing 50:15
police 2:4,15,16 5:18 6:9 8:10
9:4,10,12 10:11 11:18,20,25
13:3,21 14:4,8 15:21,23 19:11
20:21 26:25 31:11,17,18,25
32:4,5,13 33:4,15 34:19,20
35:10 36:6,7,8,25 37:20 39:3,
24,25 40:6,14,15,16,17,19,20,
22 45:3,14,19,24 46:23 48:19
50:4 56:3,10 57:19,22 58:10,
11 59:24 62:22 66:21,24
67:10 68:13,22 69:23 70:5,16
71:8 74:17 75:4,6,18,21 76:17
79:25 81:7 83:22 86:8,14
88:8,19,20 90:2,9,11,21
policies 15:17 27:1 39:10,17,
21 40:1
policing 9:19 77:20
policy 4:3 13:4,8,11 14:1
15:11,12,13,15 21:10 28:25
39:19 40:3 75:14,15,18 76:16,
22,25 77:2,6 78:1,4,7,17
79:10
Pontiac 71:21,23 94:17
pontificating 60:13
pool 56:21
poor 29:10 63:4
popular 35:18
population 59:24
populations 35:3
pork 74:2
portion 36:6 37:19 42:12
52:16,17
positions 58:9 82:19
positive 16:23 19:8

possession 10:4
possibility 40:21
possibly 17:15 19:18 36:4
postpone 97:3,5
poverty 7:2
Powerpoint 76:11
powers 74:17
practical 23:19
practice 13:16
prayers 20:2
precinct 3:23 9:13,18 10:1,22
11:4,5 19:9,20 27:13 33:4
47:18 57:20 71:18,24 72:6
80:2 90:17,19 94:16
Precincts 10:16 19:21
predators 60:8
predatory 53:15
pregnant 27:17
premier 37:11
prepare 13:15
prepared 30:8 85:17
preparing 94:9
presence 35:1
present 6:14,20,21,23,24 7:1,
8 27:19 30:7 42:4 58:17 62:4
75:23 80:18,19,20,22,23,24
91:15
presentation 7:21,24 41:25
42:1,10,16 43:25 49:13,20
76:7,11 77:21 92:3 96:7
presented 3:6 56:16 62:16
67:23
presenting 58:8
president 8:24 15:25 33:3
40:23,24 62:11 76:5 77:19
press 17:16
Pressley 2:2,10,11 3:10,18
4:7,15,19,23 5:9 6:13,18,19

7:9,17,22 9:1 12:9,12,14,16,
21,25 14:10,17 15:2,18,20,25
20:4 22:19 23:8 24:24 26:23
28:4 29:4,7 30:4,17,22 31:1
32:15,22 33:2 34:3,5,10,12
35:25 36:19,21 37:23 38:16,
19 40:7,11 41:11,24 42:7,15
48:15 49:18 50:10,19 52:8
54:4,17,20 56:23 58:21 59:5,
21 60:5 61:15,17 63:9,14
64:16 65:11,20 66:9,11,14,18
69:2 70:14 72:14,20 73:4,11,
24 75:10 78:6,16 79:12,20
80:4,6,10,17,25 81:5,11,19,24
82:5,9 83:12,25 84:8,15,24
85:4,7,12,20 86:1,4,19 87:4,8
88:4,23 89:4,11,25 90:23
91:14,18,22,24 92:4,6,10,14,
21 93:3,8,14,16,20 95:10,14,
16,23 96:6,17 97:1,4,6,9,20
98:12,22 99:4,7,11,14,25
100:4,6,11,16

Pressley- 99:18

pretty 19:4

prevent 2:5

preventing 69:9

preyed 54:2

price 20:11 29:14

primary 77:15

printout 42:25

prior 82:1,17 83:10,17 90:3,6

prison 5:15 29:22 79:3

private 50:13 52:15,18,19,22
53:3 74:19,22

problem 24:7 31:9 93:10

problematic 53:23

problems 22:15 39:18

process 43:3 47:24

prod 93:20

productivity 9:3

professional 11:23

professionalism 11:21

proficient 77:11

profiling 35:11

program 20:15 21:1,6,14,18
30:1 57:16,17 66:22,23 67:25
68:15,17 69:12,13,14,20
70:18,19 71:4,5

programs 23:21 33:18,21
55:14 67:5,19 68:1,14 71:9

project 50:7 57:23 64:4 76:3,
7,9,14,20 77:8,9

projecting 45:25

projects 48:1,3

prominent 77:22

promoted 6:4 9:24 10:6,13

pronounced 19:3

pronunciation 34:7

properly 12:16 80:6 85:7,20
89:8 93:16 99:7

proposal 34:18 35:21 36:1,3
38:4 45:9

proposed 57:6

protect 79:8 84:5

protestors 67:9

protests 67:12

protocol 15:10 98:3

protocols 13:19

proud 34:16

proven 5:20

provide 24:21 26:3 33:12,17
39:25 44:23 50:4 51:20 57:3,
15 76:17 94:2 96:12

provided 10:20 30:10 42:10
46:10 49:16 76:13

providing 2:8 9:19

provisions 77:3

public 3:21 4:4,13 5:1,3 6:14
7:18,19,20,23 9:17 12:3 13:21

14:13,21 15:3,6 30:13 35:23
38:17 66:6 73:16 82:6,12

pull 26:20

pulled 29:19

pulling 21:6,17 29:20,25

punishment 81:18

puppeteers 5:23

purchase 68:18

purchased 67:5

purchases 67:1

purely 74:11

Purple 19:20

purpose 42:19

purposes 23:19

pursuant 79:22

put 20:19 21:24 24:17 28:24
37:23 47:23 48:25 71:14
72:15 73:12 75:8

puts 20:22

putting 60:10

Q

QLINE 36:9,11

quality 12:5 61:24 62:8,12,17
63:7

question 19:23 20:7 28:12
29:24 36:20 37:17,23 46:5
50:17 55:17,19 57:3,12 58:16
59:23 60:24 61:9,18 62:8,19
63:10,15,17 66:20 67:18,23
68:5,21 70:11,12,15 71:17
98:17 99:3,8,14

questions 14:5 15:21 20:4
22:20 23:9,11,15 24:2,5 26:12
29:5 30:13 42:11 46:8 49:14,
17,19,20,23 50:1 54:22 57:1
58:15 61:15 62:6 65:10,18
66:13,15 71:15 72:15 73:13
74:1 76:16 78:6,16 94:4,6,9
95:1,2,4,5,6 96:8 97:14,25

98:4,5,7,8,10,15,19

question's 99:4

quick 19:8,17 22:2 72:18,21

quickly 5:12 16:1 20:22 23:10
32:15 36:22 69:4 72:20 87:20
96:5

Quinn 8:19

quorum 2:5 3:12 6:14 7:10
81:1

R

racial 35:11

raised 32:2

raiser 32:19

raising 39:4

ramifications 40:13

ran 17:9

ranging 10:3

rank 9:24 10:6,13,19

ranks 10:5

rape 5:15

rarely 16:25

rate 59:18

rates 58:12

ratified 44:19

rationale 37:25

reach 24:11,20

read 4:20 9:7 43:2 65:12,14
66:1

reader's 77:25

ready 77:1

real 50:8 69:4 82:3,22 83:5
87:23 98:16

realize 31:21 45:8

reallocated 55:13

reason 45:9,23 83:5 84:18

reasons 37:15 48:23

reassigned 10:7

Rebellion 90:19

recall 51:23 70:25

receive 4:8 5:1 38:1 48:21
87:17 88:8 89:3,4

received 36:9 66:7 67:8 70:16,
21 71:3 86:11 89:14 91:2,11

receives 13:1

receiving 19:1

recent 18:3 21:22

recently 20:1 28:25

recess 80:12

recipient 11:9

recognition 11:11,12,13,14
19:22 28:15 87:18,22 90:9

recognize 12:2 85:23 86:7
87:12,13 93:8

recognized 73:12 83:25 86:13
87:9 89:16 97:4,6

recognizing 14:23 93:25

recommend 68:5

recommendation 7:23 81:6,
14,22 84:12

recommendations 76:25 81:3

recommending 38:23

record 4:21 9:7 13:12 34:13
35:13 54:6 82:13 83:12 91:16,
20

records 54:5

recover 16:3

recovered 18:2 61:21 63:1
65:4

recreation 62:14

red 39:22

redline 77:2

reduce 15:8 60:23

reducing 41:4
reduction 36:14 60:19 61:12
refer 76:10
reference 41:15 50:2
references 79:3
reflect 41:22 54:6 83:12
reflected 51:13
reflects 54:16
refuse 6:7
regard 62:20
regular 6:15 20:21
regulate 60:12
reinvest 61:23
reinvested 55:14 62:2 63:7
related 16:15,21 56:19 63:24
77:13 81:25
relates 26:5 28:7 52:9,19
53:10 54:9 60:14
Relations 90:2
relationship 34:21
relationships 19:12
remember 74:7
remove 33:15
Renard 34:6,7,10,11,13,14
renovate 47:18 72:5
renovating 74:6,8
renovation 71:20 94:16
renovations 71:19,24
rental 55:4
rentals 50:14
repairs 51:18
replacement 59:12
report 4:8 9:5 13:3,4 14:4
15:22,23 17:13 26:6 30:14
38:22 41:20,21 50:3,5,6,15
55:15 69:3 73:15 75:8,15

78:17
reported 27:16 76:15
reporter 8:18
reporting 75:5
reports 23:18 31:20 65:1,2
represent 84:3
Representative 8:21
representatives 8:10 77:23
representing 40:24
represents 76:8 77:7
request 42:4,19 43:22 44:8,14
45:2,22 46:20,23 47:16 56:17,
18 58:18 64:2,3 69:5 79:23
93:13
requested 45:18 56:7,19 57:9
58:18 62:4
requesting 15:4 46:14
requests 25:13 47:23 54:5
require 66:9 73:14
required 51:12
requires 84:10
require... 98:1
research 60:2
resident 14:18 34:14,15 38:21
residents 9:17 14:9 53:14
resolution 9:5,7,9 12:10 77:18
88:10
resolutions 14:11 85:17
86:11,20 88:1,8,25 89:13,14
90:25 91:2,9,11 92:12,23
RESOLVED 11:24
respect 14:22 32:18
respected 11:22
respond 23:14 24:1 28:5
41:15,18 55:16 58:3 62:25
63:9 96:4,9
responded 25:18 27:22

responding 64:23
response 9:22 10:8 37:24
46:10 54:6 57:7,17 63:17
64:5,8,10 65:8,13,14 66:1
73:14
responses 49:19,22 50:1
65:9,18,22 72:11,16
responsibilities 30:2
responsibility 10:24 37:5
83:20
responsible 10:17
responsive 34:22 65:10,19
96:18
restrain 57:11
result 44:18
results 58:17
resurface 52:2
retains 57:19
retired 38:7
retirees 40:24
retirement 88:12
retiring 40:23
reveal 5:19
revenue 45:24 46:5
revenues 45:12,21 46:3 51:11
Reverend 85:18
review 13:7,19 14:2 15:10
41:21 43:23 44:3 50:14 78:1
95:5
reviewed 76:9,24
review... 95:9
revision 90:20
revisit 57:1
Rewards 18:8,21 19:7
Rico 9:18
rid 24:20 26:8,11 31:13

ride 37:2
rider 34:16 35:22
rifles 68:19
rights 35:20
ring 17:17
riot 67:10
ripping 31:24
rising 5:12
risk 35:7
risking 31:21,22
River 47:21
RMS 65:1
Road 16:4
robberies 16:9
Robert 75:24
Robert's 96:21
robust 76:23 78:25 79:9
Rochester 22:8,17 24:11
Rodney 9:6,9,10 12:4,8
role 10:7
roll 38:4 80:15 84:11 91:16,18,
22 99:12,16
Ron 8:24
roof 33:11
room 3:22 17:7 78:5 80:12,13
96:9
ropes 57:11
Rosa 11:12
rose 10:5
roughly 29:14 94:17
round 25:11 43:3
rounds 17:10 18:1 19:1 21:25
64:22
rubber 98:9 100:9
ruled 22:18

rules 38:6 96:21
running 18:17 23:2 31:24

S

safe 2:19 33:5 61:25
safer 42:20 55:19 62:16
safety 3:21 4:5 9:17 13:21
14:8,13,21 15:3,6 62:15
sat 79:5
Saturday 19:13
saved 27:24 63:21
saves 20:23
saving 28:2
Savior 2:13
scale 83:4
scenarios 26:1 27:5
scene 27:18
scheduled 77:20
schooling 62:13
schools 33:9,20
Scotty 73:20
sea 47:20
seats 86:10
seconded 85:11 86:22 96:20
secretary 4:20 31:6 75:23
88:6
Secretary's 75:13
Section 9:13,21 79:22
security 34:24 35:21 51:10,19,
20 55:4
seeking 66:4
segment 5:3
self- 55:25
self-sustaining 56:8
send 54:5

senior 5:24 37:2
seniors 37:10
sensitivity 79:7
sensors 29:10,11
sentence 65:17
September 27:20 43:14
sergeant 8:19 10:6,13,18 11:6
57:21
serve 88:20
served 9:15 10:21 11:17,20
29:22 86:7,10,25 88:13,14,16
service 9:20 12:3,23 16:16,21,
23 20:2 36:14 53:4 65:3 87:14
90:6
serviced 16:18
services 6:4 16:17 50:13 72:1
session 2:3 8:6 79:21 80:12,
14,15 81:12 82:12
set 23:7 73:3 80:12
share 14:2,3 29:16 82:11
shared 81:12 82:12
sharing 39:24 82:5
Sharon 86:24 88:16,17,18,22
Shelby 75:6
shenanigans 74:22
shocked 35:16
shoot 65:6
shooting 17:5,18,22 18:11,17
27:21 65:1
shootings 16:7
shop 19:15
shot 16:3 20:20 25:8,19,23
27:2,8,16,22 31:10 67:13
shots 20:23
Shotspotter 18:25 20:9,10,15,
18 21:1,6,14,18,24 22:9,12,22
23:12 25:4,10 26:1 27:4,6,7,9,

14,24 28:1,8,15 29:20,24 30:1
39:5,11,18,24 40:1 49:25
61:19 62:5,23 63:18,24 64:15,
25 65:3
show 86:17
showing 90:14
shown 47:1
shows 47:15 48:20
shut 30:3
sick 5:25
side 9:19
sides 30:6
Sign 8:16
signed 10:14 73:21
significance 90:18
Significant 16:24
signify 12:18 80:8 91:11 93:1
99:8 100:12
Silverdome 71:22,23 94:17
Silvon 22:8
similar 40:3
Simmons 22:8
simple 83:19
simply 81:14 87:16
sincerity 2:23
single 26:20 33:19 56:18
67:24 68:10 72:7
sir 5:6 20:16 25:1,22 26:3,9
28:6,18 29:2 36:18 57:1 65:19
71:14
sister 75:6 88:22
sisters 88:20
sits 16:8
sitting 8:19 17:20,24 21:23
31:16
situation 6:11 9:22 45:17 48:8
50:25 52:10 95:25

situations 26:2
sixth 17:15
size 60:2
skank 22:11 29:23
skills 33:17
Skylar 3:21
slated 68:11
sleep 65:5
slide 42:6,24 43:17,18 44:16
46:18,20,21 47:1,14,15 48:16,
19 49:13 72:10
slides 43:3
slight 16:16 44:21,25
slower 35:6
small 43:2 44:12
Smith 6:21 26:23,24 30:19,20,
24 31:2 32:16,24 75:5 80:19
84:17 92:1 99:20
snapshot 49:10
snooping 29:12
social 33:16 55:13
sold 71:22 94:17
solely 28:9
solicit 53:3
someone's 56:2
son's 32:17
sooner 98:18
sort 34:25
sound 37:9
sounds 4:16
source 45:24
south 18:18
Southwest 10:15
speak 30:19 37:4 43:7 73:18
74:24 87:8 89:16 90:3
speaker 40:8

speakers 75:24 77:22
speaking 12:1 47:12 55:21
special 46:3,5,15 55:23,24
76:6 90:9,14,18
specific 49:23 57:2 77:2
specifically 39:4 50:6
speedy 2:18
spend 23:22 33:7 46:13,15
72:4
spending 63:25
spent 49:8 63:18 64:12 74:9
85:24
spirit 12:5
split 52:14
spotter 27:23
sprayed 67:13
square 20:8 29:15 61:20 64:15
staff 8:9 10:17 13:8 34:22
85:17 86:20 88:25 89:12,24
90:25 91:9 92:11,23
staffed 36:12
Stallworth 2:7,9,12
STALWORTH 3:11
stamp 98:10 100:9
standard 83:3
standpoint 55:9 71:7
start 12:12 30:18 33:16 41:9
43:13,14 56:5
started 20:14 76:21 78:2,3
starting 33:11
starts 17:15 42:5 43:4
state 27:1 38:10 47:8 49:5
69:17,19 70:9
stated 15:6 27:5 38:2 81:17
84:19 97:23
Statewide 77:9

stating 74:12
station 32:4,6
staying 46:22
Stephanie 8:13
stolen 17:17 18:3
stop 4:17 19:15 31:14
stopped 60:13
Stopper 27:2
Stoppers 18:8,20 19:7
stops 95:19
story 19:8
Stotter 18:11,19
stream 45:12
street 18:13 22:3
streets 31:24 67:12
strengths 94:1,11
stricter 43:11
strictly 26:18 47:12
strong 21:10
stuff 22:4 25:15 37:8 38:13
71:10
subject 56:12
submit 43:21,24 96:7 98:3
submits 43:23
submitted 7:5,6 42:12,17 44:8
45:2 94:4,7 97:14 98:19
submitting 2:21
subsequently 25:23
Success 77:18
Sudnick 4:11
suffering 6:6
sufficiently 98:6
suggesting 50:14
suggestions 76:16
summary 44:7

summer 87:13
Super 11:12
superiors 11:15
supervisor 8:15 10:8,10
supervisors 11:15
supplemental 45:2 46:23 64:3
supply 72:12
support 9:16,18,19 10:9 48:9
50:12 56:19 62:5 69:23 70:5
supported 47:24 56:9 69:22
supporting 56:2
supports 58:13
supposed 22:22 43:24
suppressed 25:12
surplus 60:18 61:2,6
surveillance 39:14,20
Suspect 34:1
suspects 18:17
suspend 6:14 83:16
suspended 52:22 53:6 81:23
83:18
suspension 82:1 83:24
sustain 61:3
sustained 56:1
SUV 18:18
Sweeney 75:25 76:12
switch 42:25
sworn 19:19
symptom 5:14
system 34:20,21 35:10
systems 63:24

T

tab 42:8
table 95:7,13,16,24 97:24

tabulation 43:21
Tackle 10:8
tactical 9:20,21
tag 20:11 29:14
takes 31:12 33:12
taking 36:10 37:19 81:17
98:23
talk 5:24 6:1,2,3 17:18 31:8,25
32:1,6 42:16 47:9 53:7 56:16
talked 21:22 60:25
talking 28:15 36:25 41:9 52:1,
24 55:2 62:21,23,24 71:23
87:1 94:10
talks 43:18 48:17 94:20
targets 39:14
taser 57:12 59:10
tasers 57:7 59:8,9,12 65:17
task 10:1 11:1 74:20
tasked 10:2,8
tax 45:25 46:1
taxes 44:24
taxing 60:9
taxpayers 55:25
Taylor 8:15,16 75:24
teacher 33:7
teachers 33:13
team 11:2 24:17 57:20
technological 23:21
technologies 28:16
technology 22:12 23:17 26:17
28:9,20 29:18,24 57:4 61:20
63:22 68:18,23
Teresa 8:14 77:20
terms 23:12 35:14 41:20
53:11,15,24 60:17 67:24
69:21

test 19:16
thanking 3:7
That'd 89:9
that'll 34:9
that's 26:16
theft 10:3 11:1 69:9,12,13,14
there'd 40:19
Theresa 90:1
thing 5:13 17:15 32:13 53:18
70:21 75:1 98:16
things 13:18 14:23 16:13
17:21 24:18 26:12 28:16
34:25 37:13 38:6 39:8 53:18
57:12 60:15,21 62:13 65:17
74:3,10,13 79:4 88:9
Thomas 8:24
thought 66:14 79:1
thousand 24:15 62:5,19
throw 23:23
thrown 67:12,14
Thursday 3:19,23
tied 15:5 17:17 53:17 62:18
ties 17:17 67:14
time 5:21 6:5 16:11 20:14 22:5
33:7 36:3 38:23 39:25 41:19,
22 49:8,10 50:8 52:23 58:10
59:7,19 61:10,13 68:23 70:16
71:10 73:18 82:22,25 85:24
87:12 88:9 89:7,9 94:2,9 95:8
96:25
timeline 42:17
timely 27:25
times 81:15 82:16
tirelessly 11:17
title 13:6,10 35:20
today 3:7 7:21 13:5 24:1 27:12
29:16 30:19,23 31:2 39:5,9
41:12 58:10,17 86:10 95:2
96:14 98:9,20,21

today's 9:3 98:10
told 5:23
toll 50:23,24
tolls 52:16,17
tomorrow 31:7 58:11
tool 20:24 21:12 24:19 26:19
top 70:25
total 29:16 36:13 45:4 51:22
52:3,5 54:13 57:10 61:21
73:5,6
totally 54:10
tour 74:19
tow 47:19 50:13 51:6,7,8,9,18,
20,23 52:5,6,10,11,15 53:16
55:4,22 56:3,4,5
towers 52:18,20,22 53:3
towing 46:7,9,12,16 50:4,6,11,
12,13 51:3 52:9 53:22 54:23
55:1,3,7,8,18 56:2,14 59:25
60:1,7,14 61:5 74:15 94:22
Toyota 47:21
toys 68:18,21
track 27:18
Traditionally 90:16
trailblazer 88:18
train 77:15
training 35:2,8,12 74:6
transit 34:19,20,25 35:10
36:25 37:20 38:3 40:14,16
transitioning 36:3
transpired 89:18
travels 2:19
treat 39:23
trend 16:5
trial 79:5,6
trickle 16:9

trimmed 74:4
truck 50:13 52:15 55:5 56:3
trucks 51:8 52:7,15
true 56:9
trust 39:1,3
TSS 9:20 10:7
Tuesday 4:2,3 17:3 18:22 19:9
tune 45:21 47:21
turned 4:17
TV 4:16 18:9,21 19:7
type 23:21 53:4 68:4,6,11
87:25
types 44:22
Tyrone 8:21

U

unaccountable 40:5
unannounced 34:18
unconstitutional 100:3
understand 26:25 28:11 50:16
81:13
understanding 35:2 52:22
96:10
Underwood 5:5,6 8:14 30:16,
18 34:4,6 38:16 40:8 73:20
unfair 83:10
unfortunate 17:20
unifying 86:13
union 36:16
unit 10:2,25 40:16
unreadiness 97:22
unrelated 75:1
unreliable 22:9
untimely 96:13
unwanted 29:12

unwavering 12:5
update 16:1
updated 28:25
updates 75:19
upgrades 47:19,20,21
uphold 38:25
upset 31:2
urge 38:22
urgency 96:14
urgent 95:17,19
urgently 39:23
usage 57:5
utility 39:5
utilize 26:20

V

vacancies 40:16
valid 39:4,7
valuable 20:24 21:12,13,21
22:4 24:19 26:19
Van 18:18 23:1,3
vast 6:9
vehicle 17:9 18:1,2,4 27:15
56:2
vehicles 18:3 52:10 68:18
vendors 51:9 52:16
versed 37:12
Veteran 90:6
vibrant 42:21
Vice 6:20 8:24 9:6,8 10:25
41:12,14 80:18 81:4 83:14,15
84:16 89:14,15 91:25 99:6,19
100:8
victim 18:12,15 19:2
video 8:18
view 4:5 76:10

violated 63:3
violates 29:13
violation 35:19
violations 34:25
violent 11:1 16:12 35:13
volume 4:17
vote 84:10,24 85:13 91:5,7,17
92:6 95:20,23 97:18 98:20,24
99:13,15
voted 41:8
votes 84:24 100:6,7
voting 91:4

W

wait 22:5 87:9 95:16
wake 7:2
wall 47:20
wanted 7:15 14:3 35:24 41:15
73:25
Warfield 8:13
warmed 66:17
warrior 87:1
watched 78:9,14
watcher 79:6
watching 74:24
Wayne 5:16
ways 40:2 60:18
weaknesses 94:1,12
weapon 10:4
weapons 65:16
wearing 67:10
website 76:10
wedding 32:17,20
week 5:11 16:24 31:14 32:7
42:10 78:24 90:14 95:3,4,8,24
97:17 99:1

week's 30:8
weekend 31:5,7 32:3
weeks 21:24
weightiness 13:24
west 3:25 9:18,19 27:21
Western 9:18
Westside 27:13
we're 83:17 94:10
whatnot 56:11 68:4 72:3
white 2:15 18:1 81:3
who've 85:23
wide 19:4
widely 11:22
wife 78:10
Wilford 18:24
William 8:23 34:9 40:9 88:13
Williams 22:11 29:21 76:4,9,
18
Williams' 76:6
Willie 6:25
wise 58:17 68:8
woman 27:7,8,15,17
women 86:9 88:20
wonderful 88:15
Woods 6:3 7:8 12:13 24:24,25
25:2,7,17,21,23,25 26:5,10,15
28:5,7,13 29:3 32:16 38:1,2,
15 52:8,9,19 53:5,10 54:8,9,
15,19 60:5,6 61:14 75:22
78:18,19 80:3,24 81:2 84:1,2,
23 89:1,2,5,6 92:20 100:5
word 2:6 17:8
words 35:6 61:3
work 13:25 18:5 33:10 38:6
59:14 63:8 76:19 77:4
working 33:4,22 38:13

works 24:22
worse 32:1
worth 23:19,22,23
would've 94:6,8
wounded 27:17,19,24
wounds 18:13
wrapped 17:12
write 86:20 88:25 91:9 92:11,
23
writes 89:12
writing 37:24 42:13 49:16
64:19 71:14 72:15 73:13 94:5
96:8 97:15 98:4
written 8:2 15:14 72:11
wrong 31:12
wrongdoing 82:18 83:11
wrongful 63:23
wrongfully 29:22 77:17 79:3,
11
wrote 72:10

X

XL 11:13

Y

Yakata 8:17
yard 19:2 51:18 60:20
year 5:13 16:6,8,15 21:2 29:22
42:5 43:3,4,16 44:8 45:11,21,
22 46:1,2,15,25 47:2,11 48:8,
21 49:1,3,5,6,7 51:11,13 56:4
57:5,8,9,16,17 58:13 63:19,
20,25 64:2,11,13 69:10 86:14
90:4,12,16 93:12,13,21 96:23
99:16 100:10
year's 44:13,15 47:13 51:16,
21 52:24 59:7
year-old 17:6

years 5:18 11:19 12:22 20:1
53:23 59:11,13,15 67:8,22
68:2 74:8 79:3 86:9,21 87:12,
13 88:8 89:1,14 91:1,10
yesterday 42:13 78:9
York 22:8,17 24:12
young 5:16 6:6 21:22,24 31:16
87:1
youth 14:20 37:1
You're 66:8
y'all 32:8

Z

zealous 78:14
zip 22:25 23:2,3,6 67:14
zoom 2:8 4:5 5:1 30:21 34:4
78:9